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”Improving Lives, Building Jamaica”

The delivery of our Mission 
requires people who are 
caring, innovative, creative and 
committed to personal excellence 
and who share the following 
values:
•   Integrity and honesty.

•   Respect for the individual.

•   Passion for excellence.

•   Accountability and 

     teamwork.

•   Professionalism and 

     commitment.

•   Dedication to making 

     others better.

•   Service and results.

To be the premier funding 
organization in the provision 
of quality customer care to 
individuals, institutions and 
groups seeking to enhance the 
initiation, promotion and 
development of programmes 
and opportunities in the areas 
of Culture, Health, Arts, Sports, 
and Education through effective 
collaboration, teamwork, 
innovation and motivated 
staff for the sustained
viability of the Fund in the
process of nation building.

To be the premier funding 
agency providing impactful
value to Jamaica in the areas of 
Culture,Health, Arts,
Sports and Early Childhood
Education.

CORE VALUESMISSIONVISION
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The Most Hon. Andrew Michael Holness, ON, MP
Prime Minister

The CHASE Fund was established to support the Health, 
Early Childhood Education, Arts and Culture sectors.  
Originally financed by direct returns from the gaming 
industry, the CHASE Fund is now supported from the 
Consolidated Fund. The CHASE Fund continues to 
achieve its mandate and has expended $315.5M for health, 
$372.5M for early childhood education and $237.2M for 
cultural and artistic interventions.  

The financial support provided by CHASE has given 
thousands of citizens access to social services, and as a result 
of the construction and rehabilitation of projects across the 
island, many jobs have been created.

Through funding support from CHASE, over 600 
Early Childhood Practitioners (ECPs), and parents of infant 
school students, benefitted from training executed by the 
Early Childhood Commission (ECC). CHASE was also 
able to equip 2000 students with tablets; this significantly 
assisted students who were deprived of face-to-face lessons 
because of the COVID -19 pandemic.

In line with the overall thrust to bolster our healthcare 
facilities, $70M was spent to secure equipment for four 
hospitals in the southern region, as well as on the provision 
of 175 ward beds, and 25 children’s beds across the island.

In the last quarter of the financial year, a much-
needed Genome sequencing machine was acquired 
and commissioned for use. The ability to carry out 
sequencing significantly strengthened the health sector’s 
effort to combat COVID-19 and will be a game-changer for 
the country in the areas of natural product research, vector 
management, pathogen surveillance, antibiotic resistance 
and healthcare-associated infections.   

In the arts and culture sector, I was pleased to note that in 
addition to institutional support, CHASE provided funding 
to the JCDC to acquire equipment and software which 
allowed them to successfully host national competitions and 
events virtually.

The approvals by the CHASE Board for these and other 
projects, in the 2021-2022 financial year translated into 
measurable outcomes that have positively impacted the 
lives of many Jamaicans.  As we look to the new financial 
year, CHASE will need to continue to play its part in the 
post COVID – 19 growth and development strategies in 
all the sectors it serves. 

I commend the board, management, and staff for 
delivering on the Fund’s mandate.  I would also like to 
thank the Chairman and Board of Directors for ensuring 
that the projects that received funding were in keeping 
with Jamaica’s overall development objectives. Your work 
is valuable and appreciated by all Jamaica.

PRIME MINISTER’S Message
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The CHASE Fund (“the Fund”) continues to play a crucial 
role by making public investments that contribute to social 
development in Jamaica. I must also recognize the Fund’s 
contribution to the Government of Jamaica’s response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic, and I look forward to future 
interventions that will seek to narrow social inequality and 
cauterize the fallout in critical sectors which would have 
been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.  

The 2021-2022 Report documents strategic funding 
of projects in health ($315.582M), early childhood 
education ($372.523M), and the Arts and Culture sector 
($237.290M). It is critical that with such significant levels 
of investment, these interventions are sustainable and will 
improve the quality of life of communities across Jamaica. 
The genome sequencer acquired to support COVID-19 
variant testing at the National Influenza Centre, UWI and 
the Community Cultural Centre in the community of 
Sherlock which is situated in the Duhaney Park area are 
examples of such sustainable and impactful interventions.

The Fund has also continued to meet the demand in the 
education sector with the timely distribution of tablets and 
printers to needy students and underequipped schools. 
This is indeed very welcome and absolutely necessary, and 
complements other initiatives such as the construction of 
homework centres and parenting workshops that have been  
spearheaded by the Fund. 

While there is much work ahead, I commend the Board 
of the CHASE Fund for their robust oversight and the 
management and staff for their diligence and extraordinary 
commitment to the Fund during the financial year.

The Hon. Nigel Clarke, DPhil, MP
Minister of Finance and the Public Service
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Mr. Omar Frith
Chairman

Much can be achieved with teamwork, and I am grateful for 
the level of participatory discourse which has resulted in 
a productive year.  The Board has worked closely with the 
management team, as well as with the Ministry of Finance 
and the Public Service and the Office of the Prime 
Minister - under whose remit the Fund falls - to ensure 
that we continue to operate in concert with the ministries 
within the government’s agenda and CHASE’s mandate to 
continue “Improving Lives, Building Jamaica”.  

I thank Directors for their time and commitment in 
discussing strategies and for their diligence in the review of 
all 227 projects that received approval within the financial 
year.  

I am very appreciative of the efforts of the management and 
staff to deliver on the agreed targets and satisfy the needs 
identified in the areas covered by the Fund’s mandate.

The CHASE Fund has been making an invaluable impact 
on the development landscape for almost 20 years and is 
integral to the delivery of the government’s strategic 
priorities.  It is a privilege to have been appointed 
Chairman of the Board in the Fund’s 19th year of 
operation as we continue to build on the foundation laid 
by my predecessors.  

In the 2021-2022 financial year, CHASE provided financial 
support that impacted many individuals and communities 
and will no doubt leave a lasting legacy. Notable examples 
during the period include, four infant schools being 
constructed, nine schools renovated, and equipment 
provided to 47 early childhood institutions (ECIs).  These 
interventions benefitted approximately 2,575 infant school 
students across the island. Similarly, 15 healthcare facilities 
were upgraded, impacting service delivery to 1,000,000 
Jamaicans.  Of the 100 projects completed in the Arts and 
Culture sector, 25 involved the improvement of libraries, 
archives and documentation facilities, while 35 were related 
to the enhancement of cultural programmes in schools and 
communities.  These projects demonstrate the targeted 
impact that CHASE funded interventions can have on our 
population and the country’s development.  

It is imperative that project deliberations are guided by 
strategic thinking which assures alignment of our actions 
with our mandate in furtherance of government strategic 
priorities. This will continue to ensure that Directors, 
management and the public can have confidence in the 
decision-making process, which redounds to the best
interest of individual or community beneficiaries.  During 
the year, as Chairman, I led a two-day strategic retreat of 
the Board and management to review categories for 
support and their relevance to the wider objectives of the 
government and the discuss strategies to strengthen the 
Fund’s planning, compliance, audit and risk management 
functions.  The deliberations and decisions will pave the way 
for a more resilient organization with a focused outreach 
and improved prudence in fiscal accountability.
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Operational Overview
In the financial year ending March 31, 2022, the CHASE Fund received $1,756B 
in subvention. The Fund approved financing for 142 projects in the Health sector 
and assistance to individuals totalling $376,310M; 31 projects in Early Childhood 
Education valued at $317,420M; and $180,616M towards 56 projects under the 
Arts and Culture portfolio.

PROJECTS
APPROVED

VALUES OF
APPROVALS

‘000’

GOJ SUBVENTION 
‘000’

DISBURSEMENTS
‘000’

SECTORS      

Summary of Performance - Projects

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
 OFFICER’S Report

TOTAL                           229                   1,527,166               1,577,908              1,556,558

Sports                               -                        631,163                  631,163                  631,163

Health                             142                      378,036                  315,582                  315,582

Arts & Culture                56                       200,546                  236,686                   237,290

Education                         31                       317,420                  394,477                 372,523
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Highlights of Performance
Notwithstanding the challenges posed directly and 
indirectly by the pandemic, CHASE was able to implement and 
deliver several meaningful projects over the course of the year in 
all the sectors. 

Under the Early Childhood Education Portfolio:
       •    Under its Early Childhood Education portfolio, CHASE
             contributed over 33,000 square feet of infrastructure
             development through the construction, renovation and
             expansion of infant schools and departments, of which
            17,000 square feet were completed and handed over
             during the period namely: Bethlehem Moravian College 
             Centre of Excellence (St. Elizabeth), Patrick Town 
             Primary & Infant School (Manchester), Kilsyth Primary 
             & Infant School (Clarendon), Pondside Primary & Infant
             School (Hanover), Lacovia Primary & Infant 
             (St.Elizabeth) and Victoria Primary & Infant (Clarendon).
              This was a 110% improvement over the previous year
             which saw 12,000 square feet of infrastructural 
             development was achieved. 
       •     Two thousand (2000) tablets were distributed to
             students in infant schools across Jamaica as part of the
             CHASE Technology Enhancement Programme. 
       •    Seventy-seven (77) early childhood institutions across
             the country received multifunction printers along with 
             supplies such as paper and toners, to aid with printing
             and distribution of learning materials.
       •    Scholarships valued at $37M were awarded to 158
             students pursuing undergraduate or postgraduate studies
             in the Education sector.
       •    Over 600 Early Childhood Practitioners (ECPs) as well as
             parents of infant school students benefitted from training
             funded by CHASE and executed by the Early Childhood
             Commission (ECC).

Under the Health Portfolio:
       •    CHASE continued to contribute significantly to the
             Government’s efforts to manage the impacts of the
             COVID-19 pandemic. Among the interventions done by
             CHASE was the funding of a genome sequencer, valued 
             at $40M, for the National Influenza Centre (NIC). The
             sequencer, along with its accessories and reagents, were
             delivered to the NIC over the period October 2021 to
             January 2022, and, effective January 17, 2022, the 
             country attained the capability of testing for variants of

             viruses. The machine will continue to be relevant in the
             post-COVID era, as it allows for sequencing of other
             viruses, including HIV and Influenza.
       •    CHASE provided funding of $61.6M toward the purchase
             of hospital beds for the Kingston Public,Victoria Jubilee,
             Bustamante, Spanish Town, Linstead, Princess Margaret
             and National ChestHospitals as well as Hope Institute 
             and Sir John Golding Rehabilitation Centre in the 
             South-East Region. A total of 175 ward beds and 25
             children’s beds were distributed.
       •    The Fund also provided $20M toward the acquisition of 
             a critically needed elevator at the Port Maria Hospital in
             St. Mary as well as the acquisition of a standby generator
             for the Port Maria Hospital and Health Complex at a 
             cost of $25M. 
       •     Through funding of $32M provided by CHASE, the
            Southern Regional Health Authority (SRHA) procured
             and delivered equipment to four (4)  hospitals across the
             region: Mandeville Regional, May Pen, Percy Junor and
             Black River, as well as one (1) Health Centre (Black
             River). The equipment included surgical beds and tables,
             an anesthetic machine, defibrillators, autoclaves and
             electrosurgical units.

Under the Arts & Culture Portfolio:
       •    During the period, CHASE provided funding to the
             JCDC to acquire key equipment and software to 
             successfully host the JCDC’s competitions in 2021. 
             Through the support provided, the JCDC’s capacity to 
             stage its competitions and other events virtually was 
             enhanced. 
       •    Jamaica 59 Celebrations - Festival Song Contest:  The
             Jamaica Festival Song Competition is the longest running
             original song contest in the island. Each year it aims to
             identify a new and original song that is reflective of the
             spirit of the Jamaican people. Running since 1966, it is
             rooted in the music culture of Jamaica and a major 
             showground for aspiring artistes, songwriters and 
             producers to showcase their talent. Funding support 
             was provided to assist with production costs and prizes.
       •    Under its Scholarships and Education Grants programme,
             CHASE awarded eighty-four (84) Arts and Culture 
             Scholarships and Education Grants valued at $19.560M 
             over the period.
       •    CHASE provided funding support to the MCGES for
             Reggae Month and Jamaica 60 initiatives of the Ministry.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
 OFFICER’SReport Cont’d
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W. Billy Heaven O.D; JP 
Chief Executive Officer

Administration
The Fund complied with all required monthly, quarterly and 
half-yearly financial and performance reporting to the Office of 
the Prime Minister and the Ministry of Finance and the Public 
Service.

During the financial year under review, the Fund managed 
to maintain a high level of productivity despite interruptions 
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. CHASE Work-From-Home 
arrangements were extended to May 4, 2021 in keeping with 
the coronavirus (COVID-19) prevention measures announced by 
the Prime Minister on March 22, 2021.  After all measures were 
lifted in February 2022, the Fund continued to limit the spread of 
the coronavirus within the organization, including routine care of 
public office areas and professional cleaning and sanitizing.  Staff 
continued to receive masks and sanitizing material for individual 
office spaces.  The Fund facilitated Sector Committee and Board 
meetings via Microsoft Teams with occasional in-person 
attendance.  

The Heads of Agreement between the CHASE Fund and the 
BITU was signed on March 17, 2022.  The Agreement includes 
settlement of 17 items from an original 27-item Claim which 
had been served on the CHASE Fund in 2019 by the Bustamante 
Industrial Trade Union (BITU).  Negotiations were mediated 
by the Ministry of Labour and Social Security.  An amendment 
was made to the Staff Policy to provide guidelines for the 
Departmental Days now included in the staff’s leave entitlement.

Conclusion
The Fund was established in 2002 by the State to facilitate the 
strategic investment in five defined areas of national life; Culture, 
Health, Arts, Sport and Early Childhood Education. In the new 
financial year (2022-2023), the CHASE Fund will celebrate its 
20th year of operation with plans to highlight its impact/
achievements in these areas.  CHASE has much to be proud. 

I thank the Chairman and the Directors for diligent oversight of 
the organization and the commitment made in time and review 
that led to the outcomes during the year.

I am also profoundly grateful to management and staff for 
their hard work in the face of a pandemic and an everchanging 
economic landscape.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
 OFFICER’S Report Cont’d
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Directors deliberated on projects and reviewed operations 
during Board of Directors meetings and one two-day Strategic 
Retreat held during the year under review.

Strategic expenditure was allocated from a total subvention 
of $1.756B received for the 2021-2022 fiscal year.
Under the Early Childhood Education portfolio, 
$372.523M was disbursed.  Upgrading and equipping early 
childhood institutions accounted for 51 percent of total 
expenditure, while 24 percent was expended to build infant 
schools and resource centres which translated to over 33,000 
square feet of infrastructure development.

Critical interventions included the CHASE Technology 
Enhancement Programme. Over 2,000 tablets were distributed 
to students in infant schools across Jamaica to facilitate online 
and mixed-modality learning and 77 early childhood institutions 
received multifunction printers along with supplies such as paper 
and toners, to aid with printing and distribution of learning 
materials.  Scholarships valued at $37.0M were awarded to 
164 students pursuing undergraduate or postgraduate studies 
in the Education sector.  Additionally, over 600 Early Childhood 
Practitioners (ECPs) as well as parents of infant school students 
benefitted from training executed by the Early Childhood 
Commission (ECC) through funding support provided by 
CHASE. 

The Fund disbursed $315.582M to the Health sector with 
equipping and enhancement of health facilities accounting for 
81 percent of total expenditure.  Training and scholarships 
amounted to $21.2M, 7 percent of the total, while individual 
medical assistance (IMA) accounted for 2 percent of the total 
disbursement for the financial year. 

During the year, CHASE continued to contribute significantly to 
the Government’s efforts to manage fallout from the COVID-19 
pandemic. Chief among the interventions was the funding of a 
genome sequencer, valued at $40.0M, for the National Influenza 
Centre (NIC). The sequencer, along with its accessories and 
reagents, were delivered to the NIC over the period October 
2021 to January 2022, and, effective January 17, 2022, the 
country attained the capability of testing for variants of viruses. 
The machine continues to be relevant in the post-COVID era, 
as it allows for sequencing of other viruses, including HIV and 
Influenza.

the country attained the capability of testing for variants of 
viruses. The machine continues to be relevant in the post-COVID 
era, as it allows for sequencing of other viruses, including HIV 
and Influenza. 

The Fund also provided support of $37.5M toward the 
purchase of hospital beds for the Kingston Public, Victoria 
Jubilee, Bustamante, Spanish Town, Linstead, Princess Margaret 
and National Chest Hospitals as well as Hope Institute and the 
Sir John Golding Rehabilitation Centre in the South-East Region.  
A total of 175 ward beds and 25 children’s beds were distributed.

Through funding of $32.0M provided by CHASE, the Southern 
Regional Health Authority (SRHA), procured and delivered 
equipment to four hospitals across the region: Mandeville 
Regional, May Pen, Percy Junor and Black River, as well as one 
health centre (Black River). The equipment included surgical beds 
and tables, an anesthetic machine, defibrillators, autoclaves and 
electrosurgical units.

The Arts and Culture portfolio registered total disbursement 
of $237.290M.  Heritage and craft projects benefitted from 40 
percent of the funding available in the sector with projects in 
media, film and music, accounting for 27 percent and 26 percent 
going towards projects in the performing arts.  

CHASE invested over $40M to construct a Community Cultural 
Centre in the community of Sherlock which is situated in the 
Duhaney Park area of Northwest St. Andrew. The approximately 
3,100 sq. ft. multi-purpose building was completed within this 
financial year and accommodates a performance/events hall, 
rooms for after-school educational activities and skill 
development along with other standard facilities such as 
bathrooms/changing rooms, kitchen, and offices.

In addition to institutional support, CHASE provided funding 
to the JCDC to acquire key pieces of equipment and software to 
successfully host the JCDC’s competitions in 2021. Through the 
support provided, the JCDC’s capacity to stage its competitions 
and other events virtually was enhanced. CHASE also provided 
funding support to the MCGES for Reggae Month and Jamaica 
60 initiatives.

Under its Scholarships and Education Grants programme, 
CHASE awarded 29 scholarships and education grants valued 
at $19.560M in the period.

DIRECTORS’Report
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ACTUAL
$’000

BUDGET
$’000

VARIANCE
$’000

178,476          178,743                    267

SUMMARY OF ACHIEVEMENTS MEASURED 
AGAINST PERFORMANCE TARGETS

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES 
AND EVENTS AFFECTING THE 
FUND DURING 2021-2022
Appointment and Reappointment of Directors
During the year, the Board of Directors continued to operate 
as an interim Board with the nomination of a Chairman at each 
sitting.  In September 2021 Directors were reappointed with the 
exception of Dr. Garth Anderson who had served for three years 
as Director and Chair of the Education Committee.  The Board 
welcomed new Director, Rachael McDonald along with 
the appointment of Board Chairman, Mr. Omar Frith.

Heads of Agreement between the CHASE Fund and the BITU 
The Heads of Agreement between the CHASE Fund and the BITU 
was signed on March 17, 2022.  The Agreement governs 17 items 
from an original 27-item Claim which had been negotiated over a 
two-year period and settled with the Bustamante Industrial Trade 
Union (BITU) in February 2022.  Negotiations were mediated by 
the Ministry of Labour and Social Security.  

Addition of Two New Posts 
The Ministry of Finance and the Public Service approved 
the establishment of two new posts:  Administrative 
Assistant - Finance and a Human Resource Officer.

Special Project Oversight
Mitigation efforts related to the collapse of the roof under

construction at the St. Catherine High School Performing Arts 
Centre resulted in a closer examination of the oversight of 
construction projects and resulted in the strengthening of 
relevant process and procedures. 

Return of Unspent Funds
Towards the end of the financial year, and at the request of its 
parent Ministry, the OPM, CHASE returned $573.99M of 
accumulated and unspent funds held by CHASE since the 
de-earmarking of funds in 2017.

Corporate Social Responsibility
The Corporate Social Responsibility Fund, initiated in 2017, 
supported 31 requests from beneficiaries who demonstrated a 
need.   The Fund disbursed $9.097M during the financial year. 

PROPOSED CHANGES IN SCOPE 
OR NATURE OF ACTIVITIES 
There are no proposed changes in scope or nature of activities 
anticipated.

MODIFICATIONS TO THE 
CORPORATE PLAN
A supplementary adjustment of $3.420M was received to 
accommodate the 4% salary increase for 2021-2022, based on 
the Jamaica Confederation of Trade Unions (JCTU) Agreement.

Other Income                             7,339                  -                        7,339

Capital and 
Administrative Expenses          
Surplus (Administrative)         13,581                -                       13,581

Interest Income                          5,975                   -                        5,975

Appropriations in Aid                   -                      -                            -  

Project Disbursement           1,556,558       1,577,908                21,350

Subvention Received             1,756,651       1,756,651                    -      



DIRECTORS’Report Cont’d.

“Improving Lives, Building Jamaica”       2022 Annual Report 9

FORECAST AND PROJECTIONS 
OF KEY FINANCIAL AND 
OPERATING MEASURES FOR 
THE NEXT TWELVE MONTHS
      i.    To continue to allocate income received to the priority 
            sectors according to the approved percentages.

     ii.    Allocate disbursements to sectors according to projects
            assessed and approved by the Board.

    iii.    Establish partnerships with the private sector and expand
            collaboration with the public sector at the level of the
            ministries and agencies.

     iv.    Support rationalization of each sector based on other
            donor funding available and priorities established.

      v.    To respond to national requests that may arise during the
            course of the year.

THE NEXT TWELVE MONTHS

For the upcoming Financial Year (2022/23), CHASE will continue 
to provide much needed interventions under its mandated areas. 

The Fund will focus on constructing, upgrading and equipping 
infant schools and departments according to ECC standards. 
Priority construction projects to be undertaken within the 
2022/2023 financial year are Santa Cruz Primary and Infant 
School and Leeds Primary and Infant School, both in 
St. Elizabeth, Barking Lodge Primary and Infant School 
(St. Thomas), Farm Primary and Infant School (St. James) and 
Savanna-la Mar Primary and Infant School in Westmoreland. 
The construction works to be completed by CHASE at these 
schools will create 17 new classroom spaces and accompanying 
amenities valued at approximately $216 million.

CHASE will also continue to support training programmes 
and scholarship opportunities for early childhood practitioners 
seeking higher education, as an investment into not just their 
future, but also the nation’s children.  The Fund remains 
steadfast in its mission to plan and respond, with suitable projects 
and programmes, to the new and developing challenges faced by 
the Early Childhood sector. 

The Fund will also bolster its scholarship and training programme 
by identifying priority programmes for support, in consultation 
with the Ministry of Health and Wellness.

Under its Arts and Culture portfolio, CHASE will continue 
to build out community cultural centres and performing arts 
facilities.  Some key projects which were to come on stream in 
2021/2022 but were delayed are projected for completion during 
2022/2023.  These include St. Catherine High School Performing 
Arts Centre in St Catherine and the Downtown Kingston Centre 
for the Visual and Performing Arts.  The Fund also envisages a 
strong involvement in the Diamond Jubilee Celebrations – 
Jamaica 60 throughout 2022.

Support for the Entertainment Sector
The CHASE Entertainment Industry Support Initiative 
(CEISI) 2022 is the Fund’s response to a directive from the 
Prime Minister to CHASE to provide well needed support for 
Jamaica’s entertainment industry. The initiative aligns with the 
aims, objectives and focus areas under CHASE’s Arts and Culture 
portfolio, which since the organisation’s inception, has been 
channelling funding to projects in areas of arts and culture to 
include the entertainment industry. 

Through this initiative, a heightened level of priority will be 
given to funding requests from members of the target group for 
the remainder of 2022. Over 63% of CHASE’s Arts and Culture 
Sector subvention for 2022/23 will be dedicated to this initiative 
targeting the entertainment industry, to help its return to 
pre-COVID-19 levels of activity by providing funding for the 
staging/implementation of entertainment events and other 
entertainment related projects.
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Health

The Next Generation Genome Sequencer machine, 
acquired through support from the CHASE Fund, has 
the potential to strengthen the region’s capacity to test 
for new variants. A Genome Sequencer is a machine which 
comes with other supplementary pieces of equipment and is 
used to track genetic variation in pathogens.  The sequencing 
process helps scientists understand changes in the genetic 
makeup of an organism or cell type, which gives pointers on 
how diseases are formed and also on how to diagnose and treat 
them.  The sequencer can discover new causes of infection. 
For example, if a new pathogen arrives in Jamaica, discovery 
will be aided with the use of Next Generation Sequencing 
which allows for the analysis and comparison of hundreds to 
thousands of DNA strands at a time.  The Genome Sequencer 
which arrived on the island in October of 2021, was acquired 
at a cost of $40M dollars.  The Next Generation Genome 
Sequencer and other meaningful interventions in Health are 
documented for this Report.

MEDICAL ASSISTANCE

Medical Assistance                             $38,210,500 

In the 2021-2022 financial year, 109 persons, diagnosed with 
End Stage Renal Disease and Cancer, benefitted from funding 
under the Individual Medical Assistance Programme.               

Medical Assistance Sub-total                          $38,210,500

Prime Minister Andrew Holness, views the Genome Sequencer, purchased by CHASE and 
handed over to the National Influenza Centre (NIC) at the University Hospital of the West Indies 
(UHWI) on October 22, 2021.  Also present were (L-R): Dr. Carl Bruce, Medical Chief of Staff, 
UHWI; Billy Heaven, CEO, CHASE Fund; and the Hon. Juliet Cuthbert-Flynn, State Minister in 

the Ministry of Health and Wellness.



CHASE CEO, W. Billy Heaven (2nd left), cuts the ribbon to open the door to the 
Toyota Coaster Bus which was purchased for the Faculty of Medical Sciences, UWI.  

Participating is (l-r): Professor Dale Webber, Pro-Vice Chancellor and Principal, UWI, Mona 
Campus; Professor Minerva Thame, Faculty of Medical Sciences, UWI; 

and Howard Foster, Toyota Jamaica.
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TRAINING 

Scholarships                                                   $13,709,300 

In the financial year 2021-2022, the CHASE Fund approved 
funding for 12 students who pursued advanced training in 
Medical Sciences, Dental Surgery, Nursing, Medical 
Epidemiology and Radiation Oncology.

UWI Faculty of 
Medical Sciences - Coaster Bus                    $10,000,000

A $10M grant was approved to purchase a coaster bus for 
the Faculty of Medical Sciences at the University of the West

Indies.  The bus is being used to transport students enrolled in 
nursing, surgery and medicine programmes to various clinical 
teaching sites (hospitals and clinics) for teaching and clinical 
rotations across the island.

Fifth Biennial Nursing and 
Midwifery Research Conference                        $144,000

The Caribbean School of Nursing at the University of 
Technology (UTech), hosted its 5th Biennial Nursing and 
Midwifery Research Conference on August 12-13, 2021.  
Financial support was provided to enable 12 nurses and 
12 midwives to attend.

Training Sub-total       $23,853,300
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JCF gym located at the headquarters of the Protective Services Division (PSD) 
in Kingston outfitted with new equipment financed by the CHASE Fund.

HEALTHY LIFESTYLE

Mitchell Town Wellness Park                      $3,705,000 

A wellness park was established in Mitchell Town, Clarendon 
with financing from CHASE.  The park will function as an area 
to promote mental and physical wellness in a socially inclusive 
and holistic space for residents. The project is expected to 
benefit over 2,500 residents as well as persons from 
neighboring communities.               

Mona Heights Primary School                      $7, 800,000

Funding was approved to renovate the existing bathroom 
facility at the Mona Heights Primary School in Kingston.  

Pembroke Hall Wellness Park - Phase 2          $5,520,000

The second phase of development of the Pembroke Hall 
Wellness Park project includes establishment of a play area for 
the children, the installation of table tennis and chess boards, 
benches, and waste bins, as well as the paving of a section at 
the site.

Jamaica Protective Services 
Division - Sports Club Gym Equipment         $2,300,000

The CHASE Fund awarded $2M towards the establishment 
of the Jamaica Constabulary Force  gym located at the 
headquarters of the Protective Services Division (PSD) in 
Kingston.  Funding went towards the purchase of equipment 
aimed at improving the health and fitness of the officers in the 
PSD.

CHASE Wellness Programme                            $1,000,000

The Ministry of Health and Wellness has noted that careful 
attention to physical and nutritional health, reduces the risk of 
developing non-communicable diseases (NCDs), thus creating 
a healthier and happier population.  Funding was approved 
toward the continuation of the CHASE Wellness Programme, 
which allows staff members and one family member to 
participate in fitness activities at a gym or training sessions 
for a one-year period. The programme, which was initiated in 
2011 as a preventative step to preserve employees’ health, has 
been well-utilized by staff members and has enhanced their 
health and overall well-being. 
       
      

Healthy Lifestyle Sub-total                              $20,325,000



Health
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A nurse monitors a dialysis machine at the Mandeville Regional Hospital.

EQUIPPING/ENHANCING 
HEALTH FACILITIES
  

Spanish Town Hospital 
C-ARM Machine - Service Contract               $4,109,205

In May 2018, CHASE approved US$330,000 for the purchase 
of a C-Arm Machine for the Spanish Town Hospital through 
the South-East Regional Health Authority.  The approved 
amount represents an annual full-service maintenance contract 
awarded in financial year 2021-2022.

Jamaica Kidney Kids Foundation-Paediatric
Dialysis Programme                                            $8,000,000

CHASE supported the purchase of consumables to ensure 
continued dialysis service for children at the University 
Hospital of the West Indies - the only facility in the island 
providing dialysis treatment for children under the age of 12.  
The request for funding was made through the Jamaica Kidney 
Kids Foundation.

Mandeville Regional 
Hospital -Dialysis Machines                             $1,190,000

CHASE approved additional funds toward the purchase of 
eight haemodialysis machines to replace obsolete machines at 
the Mandeville Regional Hospital.  This project forms part of 
the CHASE initiative to replace dialysis machines in the public 
health system.  
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Next Generation Genome Sequencer           $40,000,000 

Funding was approved toward the purchase of a Genome 
Sequencer machine in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The machine aids in identifying not only the COVID-19 virus 
but also its variants which will allow for quicker actions and 
more targeted approached by the Public Health Authorities. 

Salt Spring Health Centre        $1,400,000

Additional funding was granted to fence the premises of the 
Salt Spring Health Centre in Montego Bay to improve security 
at the institution.

Port Maria Hospital - 
Two Stop Elevator                                                 20,000,000

Funding was approved toward the installation of a two-stop 
elevator at the Port Maria Hospital. The elevator was
critically needed and resolved the need for staff to manually 
carry patients, heavy equipment, furniture and supplies up 
and down stairs.

South- East Regional Health Authority     $61,650,000 

CHASE financed the procurement of 175 ward beds for 
secondary care institutions namely: Kingston Public, Victoria 
Jubilee, Bustamante, Spanish Town, Linstead, Princess 
Margaret and National Chest Hospitals as well as Hope 
Institute and Sir John Golding Rehabilitation Centre.  These 
beds are expected to improve standard of care to patients and 
reduce the recovery time of patients.

Savanna-La-Mar Public 
General Hospital- Equipment      $12,100,000

The Savanna-La-Mar Public General Hospital received critical 
small equipment needed to improve the triage and assessment 
of patients at the hospital.  Funding was approved in light of 
the increase in COVID-19 cases within the parish at the time 
and the urgent need for equipment to treat critically ill
patients.  It is expected that the equipment will improve 
patient monitoring and contribute to better patient outcomes.

University Hospital 
of the West Indies- Equipment                        $20,000,000

Funding was approved toward outfitting the Field Hospital at 
the University Hospital of the West Indies.  The 48-bed facility 
was equipped to operate independently providing quality 
medical care to COVID-19 and critically ill patients.

Microbiology Incubator for the 
Bustamante Hospital for Children                  $1,500,000

The Bustamante Hospital for Children received a 
microbiological incubator acquired through the South 
East Regional Health Authority with CHASE funding.  
The incubator was identified as a critical piece of laboratory 
equipment needed to provide a controlled contaminant-free 
environment for biological samples to be tested, and cultures 
grown and stored.

Bustamante Hospital for 
Children- C-Arm Machine     $26, 000,000

Funding was approved toward the purchase of a C-Arm 
machine for the Bustamante Hospital for Children.  A C-Arm 
machine is utilized in diagnostic and surgical procedures.  It is 
expected that the machine will also be utilized in orthopedic, 
and emergency care, providing high-resolution X-ray images.

Mandeville Regional Hospital 
C-Arm Machine                      $31,303,118

The CHASE Fund supported the purchase of a C-Arm 
machine for the Mandeville Regional Hospital.  With a new 
functional machine in place, it is expected that there will be 
an increase in efficiency in diagnosis and treatment of patients, 
enhanced accuracy and reliable digital processing for patients 
prior to orthopaedic surgery.

Chapelton Community Hospital                    $66,300,000

Funding was approved toward Phase 2 of the renovation of the 
Chapelton Hospital. The hospital had been under renovation 
since 2019, with primary and secondary care services 
re-located to other facilities.   The hospital is expected to be 
fully-operational at the end of Phase 2 of the project which 
includes renovation and new works to the existing building, 
engineering, pharmacy construction and external works.



Health
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Carmen Mullings, Acting Regional Director of Child Protection and Family Services 
Agency (CPFSA) and Yonice Roberts-Robinson, Social Worker, CPFSA Transitional Living 

Programme (left and 2nd left), receive a laptop from Nigelee Johnson, CHASE Fund Project 
Officer for Health and Elaine Robinson, Lions Club Region 4 Chairperson.

Also participating is Levene Griffiths (right), Sustainable Development 
Committee Chair of the Lions Club of New Kingston.

Rotary Club, Saint Andrew 
North- Staff Bus for Cancer Society                   $795,000

The CHASE Fund approved J$795,000 as a contribution
towards the purchase of a 15-seater Hiace Bus for the 
Jamaica Cancer Society.   The initiative was coordinated by the 
Rotary Club of St. Andrew North.  Other contributors to the 
purchase include: JMMB, Mayberry Investments, PROVEN, 
the Rotary Club of London, the Rotary Club of Cayman, the 
Jamaica Broilers Group and VMBS.

Lions Club International -
Adopt a Children’s Home                                  $1,300,000

The CHASE Fund provided financial assistance to acquire fixed 
assets needed in seven children’s homes identified by the Lions 
Club of New Kingston. The Lions Club through their own

fund-raising efforts, provided the homes on an ongoing basis 
with replenishable supplies such as food items, school supplies, 
sanitary products, personal hygiene products, and toiletries.  
Homes being supported include the Andrew Parish Church 
Home for Girls, Muirton Boys Home, Mustard Seed 
Communities, Transitional Living Facility - Lady Musgrave 
Road, Strathmore Gardens Children’s Home, Transitional 
Living Facility - Palmoral Avenue, and the Annie Dawson 
Home for Children.

Equipping/Enhancing 
Health Facilities Sub-total                             $295,647,323

HEALTH TOTAL 2021/2022  $378,036,123



“Improving Lives, Building Jamaica”       2022 Annual Report 19

One of the major interventions in the early childhood sector 
during the 2021-2022 financial year was the distribution of 
tablets to infant schools.  Two thousand tablet devices, valued 
at $50 million, were distributed to several schools during the 
financial year. They included: Allman Town Infant School in 
Kingston; Evelyn Mitchell Infant School in Clarendon; Arcadia 
Primary and Infant School in St. Thomas; Boundbrook Infant 
School in Portland; Naggo Head Infant School in St. Catherine; 
and Bethabara Infant School in Manchester.

The project complemented the CHASE Fund’s SMART Boards 
Programme, designed to enable virtual/distant learning in the 
context of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 
The CHASE Technology Enhancement Programme (SMART 
Boards in Infant Schools), which began in 2019, supplements 
the Ministry of Education and Youth’s Tablets in Schools 
initiative.

This is just one of 75 projects completed within the financial 
year, 31 new projects and 45  carried over from the prior 
financial year (2020-2021).  The result was the construction, 
renovation and equipping of 60 infant schools; the provision 
of Smartboards to 12 schools under CHASE’s Technology 
Enhancement programme; the award of 158 scholarships; and

the completion of two training programmes which benefitted 
over 2,000 persons.  These projects are detailed in the 
following 2021-2022 Education listing. 

Equipping and upgrading 
of Infant Schools/Resource 
Centres

Elletson Primary and Infant School                $6,886,000

Elletson Primary and Infant School is located in Central 
Kingston. The school provides early childhood and primary 
education for children from the communities of Southside, 
Tivoli Gardens, Parade Gardens and Maxfield. The approved 
funding covered minor renovations to the school including a 
kitchen upgrade, paving the driveway, painting, termite 
treatment, new floor finish and the provision of classroom 
and staff furniture, kitchen equipment, and computers.

Education

The rehabilitated driveway at the Elleston Primary and Infant School.



King Weston Primary 
and Infant School                 $3,225,000

The King Weston Primary and Infant 
School was established in 1848 as an 
all-age school.  It was changed to a 
primary and infant school in 2018.  
Students attend the school mainly from 
the surrounding communities of King 
Weston, Grant Hill, Florence Hill, 
Golden Valley and Lawrence Tavern in 
St. Andrew.  Over the years the school 
population declined due to the remote 
location of the school. CHASE’s 
intervention facilitated minor renovations 
to the building, including the construction 
of a play area, installation of floor finish 
and partitions, painting, the provision of 
classroom and staff furniture, and the 
provision of kitchen equipment.

Marverley Primary 
and Infant School                                                 $6,380,000

Marverley Primary and Infant School was established in 1955 
as a primary school.  The infant department was added in 2018. 
CHASE funding facilitated the conversion of a storage room 
into bathrooms, the construction of a play area, the installation 
of windows, the provision of classroom and staff furniture and 
kitchen equipment. 

Pondside Primary 
and Infant School                                                $1,338,410

Pondside Primary and Infant School is located in Pondside 
District, Great Valley P.O, Hanover and was rationalized in 
2012 under the Ministry of Education’s Rationalization 
Program. Students attend Pondside from the communities 
of Cascade, Woodville, Coolspring and Flint Wood. 
Additional funding was approved to complete the renovation 
of an existing building and the construction of two new 
classrooms, bathroom facilities.  A play area was also created 
and a perimeter fence erected.
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Multifuction Printer

CHASE Technology Enhancement 
Programme - Printers for ECIs                       $20,000,000 

CHASE continued to provide solutions tailored to the needs
of early childhood education institutions. One hundred and
thirty (130) multifunction printers along with the necessary 
supplies were provided to early childhood institutions across 
the island to facilitate the printing of Learning Kits and other 
required material for students who lacked access to online 
materials during the COVID-19 Pandemic.

Pondside Primary and Infant School,
 Pondside District, Great Valley, Hanover
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Constant Spring  Primary 
and Infant School                                                    $900,000

Located within the urban community of Cassava Piece in 
St. Andrew, Constant Spring Primary and Infant School 
provides early childhood and primary education for children 
from the surrounding communities of Cassava Piece, Red 
Hills, and White Hall. The school was granted infant status in 
2019 and welcomed its first set of students in 2020.  CHASE 
funding was approved to acquire four laptop devices and a 
multifunction copier for the school.

Teacher and students are comfortable in the Savanna-La-Mar Infant School, 
Savanna-la-Mar, Westmoreland

Savanna-La-Mar Infant School                       $46,257,706

The Savanna-La-Mar Infant School was established in 1914 
in Savanna-la-mar, Westmoreland.  The school has a student 
population of 300 infants occupying 11 classrooms.  Based on 
this large and fast-growing student population, the school had 
resorted to utilizing other areas of the school for classrooms 
including an original timber frame school building which has 
been in existence for more than 100 years. CHASE stepped in 
and provided funding to construct a four-classroom building 
to include: bathroom facilities, sickbay, and kitchenette along 
with the provision of kitchen equipment and classroom
furniture.



rainwater harvesting as there is no NWC water main within 
the community. CHASE funding equipped and upgraded 
the infant department with kitchen equipment, classroom 
furniture, white boards, water tanks and a new paint job. 

Fergusson Primary and Infant School            $4,785,000

First established as an all-age school in Spur Tree,  
Manchester, Fergusson Primary and Infant School 
transitioned to a primary school in 2013 and then gained 
infant status in 2018 under the Ministry of Education and 
Youth Rationalization programme. CHASE approved funding 
to upgrade the existing infant building.  Renovation work 
included the replacement of windows and doors, installation 
of partitions, new application of floor finish, the construction 
of a play area, the provision of classroom and staff furniture, 
and provision of much-needed kitchen equipment. 

Rural Hill Primary and Infant School                 $1,200,000

Without a perimeter fence, the Rural Hill Primary and Infant 
School in Portland was inundated with animals and open to 
pedestrian traffic. Funding was approved to erect a fence and 
provide additional classroom furniture in compliance with Early 
Childhood Commission (ECC) standards.

CHASE Technology 
Enhancement Programme - Computers         $1,500,000

In March 2020, e-Learning Jamaica announced that Cabinet 
had approved the procurement of 40,000 tablet computers 
for students and 25,000 devices for teachers, under a new 
phase of the Tablets in Schools project. Even with this level of 
commitment, there was still a great need for more devices, 
particularly for small rural schools, which in some instances, 
had no instruments to begin with.  CHASE funding allowed 
for the supply and installation of 12 much-needed computers 
in seven schools that had written to the Fund for support.

Grant’s Mountain 
Primary and Infant School                                    $935,000

Grant’s Mountain Primary and Infant School was established
in 1992 in Grants Mountain, Calderwood, St. Ann. 
One hundred and twenty-one students are enrolled.  
The school gained infant status under the MOEY 
rationalization programme in 2014 and is the only early 
childhood institution located within the predominantly 
farming community of Southwestern St. Ann. Although 
certified by the ECC, there were a few challenges including 
water woes. The school’s water supply is mainly from
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Wakefield Primary and Infant School in St. Catherine
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NET Resilient School Project - Phase II        $25,000,000

The NET Resilient School Project has been providing schools 
with personal protective equipment (PPE) and infrastructure 
in compliance with Health department guidelines for school 
operations during the COVID-19 pandemic. CHASE approved 
funding to equip 83 early childhood institutions with the 
resources needed for safe and effective operations.

Personal protective equipment (PPE) acquired for early childhood 
institutions

Tablets acquired for ECIs under the CHASE Technology 
Enhancement Programme

CHASE Technology Enhancement 
Programme - Smartboards                              $15,000,000

CHASE Technology Enhancement Programme has successfully 
installed 90 SMART boards in thirty-five (35) schools since 
2018. Additional funding, provided in the financial year, 
facilitated the supply and installation of an additional 23 
interactive displays in nine infant schools and departments 
across the island.

CHASE Technology Enhancement                                    
Programme - Tablets                                          $10,000,000

With schools employing a hybrid model of face-to-face and 
online classes, the need for device access continues to be great. 
Many children either do not have access or must share access 
with older siblings, with the latter being given priority. 

With the current distribution of tablets being largely aimed at 
primary and high-school students, a major gap within the early 
childhood sector existed. CHASE approved a total of $50M 
for this initiative, procuring over 2,000 tablets for the sector. 
The additional funding will allow for the provision of approxi-
mately 300 tablet devices to infant schools/departments island 
wide, to facilitate virtual/distant learning as well as to enhance 
the physical mode of the teaching and learning process in 
schools. 

St. Joseph’s Infant School                                      $258,990

Established over 125 years ago and located in the heart of 
Downtown Kingston, the St. Joseph’s Infant School applied for 
a power washer to aid in sanitization efforts, a microwave and 
a suitable chair for a teacher who needed special back support.  
CHASE funded the provision of these items at a cost of 
$258,990 to assist the school with a population of 300 infants. 

Lime Hall Primary and Infant School           $10,890,000

Lime Hall Primary and Infant School is the only government 
owned and operated school within this community of 
Lime Hall, St. Ann.  Established in 1932 as an all-age school, 
it gained infant status in 2014 as part of the MOEY 
rationalization programme. The approved grant facilitated 
renovation of an existing building and the construction of a 
new bathroom facility along with the provision of the 
necessary classroom furniture, kitchen and play equipment.

Equipping and upgrading 
of Infant Schools/Resource 
Centres Sub-total                                             $154,556,106



Patrick Town Primary and Infant School, Manchester
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Building of Infant Schools 
and Resource Centres

Free Hill Primary and Infant                                $152,626

The Fund financed the conversion of a teachers’ cottage to a 
three-classroom infant department at the Free Hill Primary 
and Infant School.  Initial funding covered the construction 
of a sickbay, kitchen, office, and bathroom facilities along 
with the provision of classroom furniture, play and kitchen 
equipment. The additional funding in the amount of 
$152,626.00 was approved in 2021-2022 to complete the 
project.

Wakefield Primary and Infant School               $881,428

Located in Buxon, Wakefield, St. Catherine, the Wakefield 
Primary and Infant School has been providing primary 
education for children in and around Wakefield and 
surrounding communities since its establishment in 1922. 
The school started operations in the Wakefield Pentecostal 
church and later relocated to the Wakefield Community 
Centre in 2005. The environment at the centre was not 
conducive for teaching and learning and CHASE approved 
funding for the construction of a new school building on

the grounds of the primary school.  Additional funding 
of $881,428.00 was granted to complete the project.

Patrick Town Primary and Infant                     $2,337,720

Patrick Town Primary and Infant School was once a 
stand-alone primary school but was rationalized by the 
Ministry of Education and Youth in 2016. Due to a lack of 
classroom space, the infants occupied the grades 1 and 2 
classrooms and the staff room and math room were 
converted to accommodate the grades 1 and 2 students. 
Funding approved in 2020-2021 facilitated the construction 
of three classrooms, office, kitchenette and bathroom 
facilities, in addition to the provision of staff and student 
furniture, play and kitchen equipment. The additional funding 
of $2,337,720.00 was necessary to complete the project.

Leeds Primary and Infant School                   $51,205,091

Leeds Primary and Infant School is located at approximately 
15-20 kilometres from Santa Cruz in St. Elizabeth.  The Leeds 
Early Childhood Institution operated out of a neighbouring 
church building in close proximity to the primary school. 
The Ministry of Education and Youth eventually approved the 
establishment of an infant department on the grounds of the 
primary school. Funding was approved for the construction 
of a new three-classroom building to house the infant 
department.  Construction included bathroom facilities, 
office, kitchen, staff room and sickbay as well as the provision 
of classroom furniture, kitchen appliances and play equipment.
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$36,560,000.00 in scholarships at the undergraduate and 
postgraduate levels. The scholarships supported 158 teachers 
pursuing degrees in Early Childhood Education and other 
specialized areas related to the sector.

 

ECC Training of Early Childhood 
Practitioners/Parents                                            $680,000

Due to the impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic, early 
childhood practitioners and parents were required to develop 
additional skills to respond to the needs of young children in 
the virtual learning environment. The traditional classrooms 
were instantly transformed, however, some teaching strategies 
were no longer effective or meaningful for children, early 
childhood educators and parents in this new paradigm. 
The evidence of this was reiterated in the findings of the 
NCE and UNICEF Reports, which thoroughly outlined the 
significant impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on students in 
the early childhood sector.  The ECC developed an effective 
training strategy to equip early childhood practitioners 
with the technological aptitude to foster optimal learning 
outcomes, as well as provide parents/families with the right 
tools to support online learning.  CHASE funding facilitated 
28 workshops and supplied laptop devices to facilitate the 
training of practitioners and parents across seven regions.

ECC Provision of -
Learning Kits to Infants                                    $10,000,000

The Early Childhood Commission (ECC) targeted the 
learning gap of approximately 60,000 four and five-year-old 
students who had not been engaged since the start of the 
coronavirus pandemic.  The project provided 1,393 learning 
kits, materials/resources for children that had not been 
engaged since the start of COVID-19 in Jamaica.

Early Childhood Training 
Programme/Scholarships   Sub-total           $47,180,000

EDUCATION TOTAL               $317,420,670

Santa Cruz Primary and Infant School         $53,186,299

Santa Cruz Primary and Infant School has been operating 
for over 20 years in St. Elizabeth.   An infant department 
was added in March 2020. The school provides primary and 
early childhood education for children in and around Burnt 
Ground, New River, Hopewell, Santa Cruz and surrounding 
communities.  Funding was approved for the construction of 
a new four-classroom building to include: bathroom facilities, 
staffroom, office, kitchen and sickbay along with the provision 
of the necessary classroom furniture, play equipment and 
kitchen appliances.

 

Kilsyth Primary and Infant School                     $921,400

Additional Funding was approved for the establishment of an 
infant department at the Kilsyth Primary and Infant School 
in Clarendon. The project involved the demolition of the 
existing building and the construction of three classrooms, a 
kitchenette, office, bathroom, sickbay, and staffroom, outfitted 
with the necessary furnishings and equipment. The additional 
approved funding of $921,400.00 completed the project.

May Pen Infant School                                        $7,000,000

Additional funding in the amount of $7,000,000.00 was 
approved to complete construction of a ten-classroom 
building and the renovation of an existing building into two 
classrooms with the necessary amenities including, car park, 
dining area and perimeter fencing at the May Pen Infant 
School in Clarendon.

Building of Infant Schools 
and Resource Centres   sub-total                 $115,684,564

Early Childhood Training 
Programme/Scholarships

Scholarships                                                        $36,500,000

The quality of our human resource is undoubtably one of the 
major factors for success and growth of any sector. CHASE 
recognises this and, during the financial year, approved



The St. Joseph’s Teachers College received a $2m grant in 
the 2021/2022 financial year and Acting Principal, Winsome 
Francis, said the funds were used to purchase much-needed 
musical instruments including a bass guitar, xylophone and 
conga drum
 
Mrs. Francis expressed appreciation for the support, lauding 
CHASE for recognising the importance of music education in 
stimulating learning across different age groups.

 “These instruments provide an opportunity for more people 
to get involved with music, not just our students, but also our 
staff.  With the Fund’s support we can look into how we can 
improve on the use of music in teaching and learning as well

as in a wider space. As we go forward, we will ensure that 
our students and community understand the value of these 
resources so that they benefit us in the short and long term,” 
Mrs. Francis added.
 
Since its inception, the CHASE Fund has been responding to 
requests from educational institutions that have sought funding 
to strengthen existing music programmes.  This is just one of 
56 Arts and Culture projects for which funding was approved 
in the financial year 2021-2022.
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PERFORMING ARTS

Windscream Posse - The Online Edition           $500,000

Jambiz International Limited is a Jamaican production 
company involved in the production and exposition of 
professional theatre in Jamaica and the Jamaican Diaspora. 
Jambiz has been producing theatre and cultural events since its 
inception in 1996. The company’s consistently high standard 
of presentation has been rewarded with several industry 
awards such as the Jami and Actor Boy Awards. Like most 
other practitioners in the Cultural and Creative Industries, 
Jambiz was negatively affected by the pandemic. Their play, 
“Windscream Posse, opened on Boxing Day 2019, but closed 
in March 2020 as the pandemic worsened. In response, Jambiz 
took the decision to present the play to its audiences online. 
The company sought and received support from CHASE for 
the marketing and public relations costs for “Windscream 
Posse - the Online Edition” which premiered on the CaribTix 
platform on Mother’s Day - Sunday May 9, 2021.

SCHOLARSHIPS 
AND EDUCATIONAL GRANTS

Scholarships and Educational Grants           $19,310,042

Scholarships and Education Grants were approved for 
84 Jamaicans pursuing studies in various areas of the 
performing arts, visual art and media, film and cultural 
heritage.  Specific programmes pursued include: Theatre 
and Performance, Dance Education, Drama Education, Film 
Production, Photography Screenwriting, Sound Design, 
Music Education, and Fine Arts.

Scholarships and 
Education Grants Sub-total                             $19,310,042



Soroptimist International 
Jamaica (Kingston) Classics in June 2021          $100,000

The annual Classics in June concert, which started in 2004, is 
a major fundraiser for the Soroptimist International Jamaica 
(Kingston) club.  It showcases performances by well-known 
and accomplished Jamaican musicians and highlights the talent 
of young performers in a genre of music and an area of the arts 
not often championed in Jamaica. CHASE supported the 16th 
annual staging of the event which was presented virtually on 
June 20, 2021.

Jamaica Creative Expo                                          $ 975,000

The Ministry of Culture, Gender, Entertainment and Sport 
(MCGES) established the National Culture and Creative 
Industries Council (NCCIC) to spearhead the amalgamation 
of targeted creative sectors - performing arts, entertainment, 
music, culinary arts, publishing, film, visual arts, craft, sports 
and fashion - to maximise their potential both locally and 
internationally. The NCCIC’s first major event was the 
Creative Career Expo. The Expo exposed high school and 
tertiary level students to various career options in the creative 
industries. CHASE provided funding to offset the cost of 
streaming the event live to hundreds of students in Jamaica 
and other Caribbean territories.

Jamaica 60 Celebrations 
and Legacy Projects                          $35,500,000

The year 2022 marks Jamaica’s 60th Anniversary as a 
politically independent nation. This is a significant milestone 
which the Government of Jamaica is committed to ensuring 
is appropriately acknowledged and celebrated. The Ministry 
of Culture, Gender, Entertainment and Sport (MCGES) is 
spearheading this year-long commemoration of the Diamond 
Jubilee which began on January 1, 2022 and will see a mix of 
Legacy Projects and celebratory events spread throughout the 
year. CHASE responded to a call for support from the MCGES 
by approving funding for various activities and expenditure. 
These include JA60 Secretariat support, Sizzla in Concert 
with an Orchestra, Children of the Icons and Aspiring Artistes 
Concert, Vintage Concert and the upgrade of CPTC Studio 
and Control Room.
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Former Cabinet minister, senator, and Member of Parliament, 
Derrick Smith, poses with copies of his memoir, “Turning Points”.

Jamaican-Austrian Celebration Concert          $980,000

Music Unites Jamaica Foundation (MUJF) is a non-profit, 
non-governmental organisation founded in 2009 to promote 
awareness of Jamaica’s vast and well-known musical heritage 
through research on Jamaican composers, presentation of 
symposia, music workshops and exhibitions as well as free 
concerts islandwide.  The MUJF staged a collaborative concert 
on March 29, 2022, to mark the 220th anniversary of the 
passing of Jamaica’s first documented composer, Samuel 
Felsted.  The concert was streamed from the Mariahilferirche 
church in Graz, Austria and the Kingston Parish Church.  
CHASE provided funding to assist with the production 
which highlighted the works of Felsted and other Jamaican 
composers.
 

Performing Arts Sub-total                               $38,055,000

LITERARY WORKS

“Turning Points” by Derrick Smith                $2,873,166

The CHASE Fund is a major source of funding for the 
production of Jamaican books and has supported more than 
100 publications over the years.  Publications supported 
include biographies and autobiographies of celebrated 
Jamaicans in the areas of the arts, science and nation building; 
works on parishes, towns, and other places of historical and 
cultural significance; stories of Jamaican folklore, symbols, and 
national institutions; poetry; and fictional works with distinctly 
Jamaican storylines.  Former government minister, Derrick 
Smith, in partnership with Ian Randle Publishers Limited, 
sought funding from CHASE to publish his memoirs 
“Turning Points”. The book covers his life up to his retirement 
from public life.  Financial support was provided to cover 
production costs including editorial costs and the initial print 
run of 500 hardback copies.
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World Heritage Site – Second Edition” as part of the 
Jamaica 55 Legacy Projects. The book was printed in China 
and CHASE provided funding to assist with the cost of 
shipping the printed copies of the book from China to Jamaica. 

“Once Upon a Jamaica - A Photobook”         $1,324,208

Maxine Brown, author/publisher with over 45 years’ 
experience in public relations, media management and 
creative writing, produced “Once Upon a Jamaica - 
A Photobook”, highlighting the work of the late Herbie 
Gordon - professional commercial/art photographer. 
The book showcases a collection of Gordon’s photographs 
depicting objects and practices of old-time Jamaica, 
accompanied by storylines.  Support was approved to cover 
design and layout services and to print 2,000 copies.

Literary Works Sub-total                                    $5,274,374

Redemption Songs: 
Reading Scriptures for Social  Change                $99,000

The Rt. Rev. Dr. Robert McLean Thompson is a retired 
Bishop of Kingston, Jamaica, having served as a priest of the 
Anglican Church for 47 years. He is the author of the book 
“Redemption Song: Reading Scriptures for Social Change” 
which was published by Ian Randle Publishers. CHASE 
purchased copies of the book.

JNHT Publication - 
‘Heritage in Pictures, 
the Blue and John Crow Mountains, 
World Heritage Site’                          $978,000

In 2018, the Jamaica National Heritage Trust (JNHT), an 
agency of the Ministry of Culture, Gender, Entertainment and 
Sport (MCGES), was charged with compiling and publishing 
a book on the Blue and John Crow Mountains entitled: 
“Heritage in Pictures, the Blue and John Crow Mountains,

Arts & Culture
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New Providence Primary School Library          $525,000

The New Providence Primary School has been operating since 
1938. Currently, the school has 523 students and 29 teachers. 
The school sought support to enhance access to information 
and communication technology (ICT) for its students and 
teachers. Funding was provided to purchase computers and 
printers to allow more students to have access to internet 
enabled devices to facilitate research in the library and in 
completing assignments while the printer/scanner will allow 
for the creation of hardcopies of documents needed in that 
format by students and teachers.

Libraries and Archives Sub-total                      $3,665,000

LIBRARIES AND ARCHIVES

Edward Seaga Research Institute                    $3,140,000

The personal collection of the late Most Hon. Edward Seaga, 
ON, is being managed by the Edward Seaga Research Institute 
(ESRI) which was established in 2005.  Its objectives are to: 
provide a secured environment to house the collection of the 
former Prime Minister; increase public awareness on the work 
and life of Mr. Seaga; provide access to research undertaken by 
Mr. Seaga;  and provide access to a range of topics on Jamaican 
life.  The collection consists of artefacts, audio-visual material, 
books, memorabilia, ministry papers and reports which need 
to be organized for easy retrieval and access and the depth and 
extensiveness of the collection gives an insight into the life of 
one of the founding fathers of the Jamaican Constitution and 
modern Jamaica. Much effort has gone into digitizing and 
restoring the collection which consists of over 300 boxes of 
materials.  CHASE provided institutional support.

PHOTO AREA



Raquel Coleman-Livingston (left), Acting Principal at New Orange Hill Infant School in St. Mary, receives 
instruments for her school from CHASE Project Officer, Alain Williams and Project Manager, Latoya Aquart-Foster
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creative and cultural industry to a halt.  Support was provided 
to assist her in obtaining a much-needed digital mixing board. 

CHASE’s Music in Schools Initiative                  $322,000

In furtherance of the objective to fund programmes geared 
towards the development of talent and skills in the areas of 
arts and culture, CHASE has been supporting the music 
departments of schools primarily by way of instruments and 
equipment under its Music in Schools Initiative. Toward the 
end of the preceding financial year, CHASE engaged a supplier 
to provide musical instruments for twenty-eight primary and 
high schools from across the island.  Additional funding was 
approved to cover the cost of storing and distributing the 
instruments to the selected schools.

MEDIA/FILM/MUSIC

Kimiela “Candy” Isaacs 
Home Studio Equipment                                        $90,000

Kimiela “Candy’ Isaacs is a singer/songwriter who was 
born blind and started singing as early as three years old. 
She has won numerous medals and awards in the JCDC 
Festival of the Arts Competition and the National Gospel 
Song Competition. Isaacs earned a diploma in Performance

Teaching; certification from the Associated Board of the Royal 
School of Music (ASRSM); and in 2012, became the first 
visually impaired student to graduate with honours from the 
School of Music at the Edna Manley College of the Visual and 
Performing Arts (EMCVPA).  She established a home studio to 
continue working after the COVID-19 pandemic brought the

Reggae Month 2022                           $37,600,000

Reggae Month 2022 activities were a major part of 
Jamaica’s year-long 60th Anniversary Celebrations.  Funding 
was provided for the staging of various Reggae Month events 
under the purview of the Jamaica Reggae Industry Association 
(JaRIA) and the Ministry of Culture, Gender, Entertainment 
and Sport (MCGES).
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HERITAGE & CRAFT

Olympic Way Community 
Cultural Centre                                                  $51,984,000

Funding in the amount of $32,484,000 was awarded for the 
project proposal to construct the Olympic Way Community 
Cultural Centre.  The Board approved additional funding 
of $19,500,000, required to proceed with the project based 
on the outcome of the tender process.

Jamaica 59 Celebrations - 
Festival Song Contest            $10,000,000

The Jamaica Festival Song Competition is the longest 
running original song contest on the island.  Each year, it 
aims to identify a new and original song that is reflective of the 
spirit of the Jamaican people. Running since 1966, it is rooted 
in the music culture of Jamaica and provides a major platform 
for aspiring artistes, songwriters and producers to showcase 
their talent. CHASE provided support to the Jamaica Festival 
Song Competition 2021.

Musical Instruments and 
Equipment for Teachers’ Colleges                  $14,000,000

Support was provided to purchase musical instruments and 
equipment to strengthen/establish key training and musical 
skills development initiatives at six teachers’ colleges - Church 
Teachers’ College (Manchester), Bethlehem Teachers’ College 
(St. Elizabeth), Sam Sharpe Teachers’ College (St. James), 
Moneague College (St. Ann), Mico Teachers’ College 
(St. Andrew) and St. Joseph’s Teachers College (St. Andrew).  
These colleges currently train teachers in music for different 
levels of the education system and regularly need to refresh or 
add to their collection of musical instruments and equipment.

Him Bawn…
A Jamaican Christmas Cantata                          $1,340,000

While there are some Jamaican carols, many of these songs 
have no published score available to those desirous of accessing 
and performing these works. ‘Him Bawn’’ is a 17-track 
musical work, created for four-part choral group with full 
accompaniment for piano and orchestra, retelling the story 
of Jesus’ birth.  The work was written solely using Jamaican 
music genres.  Support was provided to transcribe, edit and 
publish the musical scores.

Media/Film/Music Sub-total                         $53,352,000
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HISTORIC SITES 
AND MONUMENTS

Toward Port Royal’s Nomination 
to the World Heritage List       $ 7,000,000

Port Royal is one of the most important historical and 
archaeological sites in Jamaica. It has been on UNESCO’s 
World Heritage Tentative List since February 2009 and 
in 2019, Jamaica put forward a formal nomination for its 
inscription. The World Heritage Committee considered the 
documents submitted on “The Sunken City of Port Royal - A 
Relict and Continuing Cultural Landscape (Jamaica)” and 
deferred consideration of the nomination. Several 
recommendations to strengthen the submission were provided 
and the JNHT, on behalf of the Government and people of 
Jamaica, has been working on following through on these 
recommendations and intends to resubmit the nomination 
in 2023.  To this end, support was provided to complete a 
Heritage Impact Assessment (HIA) of the site and to engage 
a consultant to coordinate the preparation of the nomination 
dossier.

Research Project - 
Identity and Heredity: 
German Ancestry in Seaford Town, 
Westmoreland                                                      $2,700,000

Seaford Town in Westmoreland dates back to 1834 when it 
was founded as a settlement for German immigrants who 
came to Jamaica to work on sugar plantations and settle as 
peasant farmers. Support was approved for the research 
project conducted by the UWI. The objective is to gain a clear 
understanding of the cultural and genetic impact of Germans 
in Seaford Town. By exploring the Seaford Town community 
from both an ethnographic as well as a genetic perspective, 
this research project will add considerably to the body of 
work available on Jamaica’s intangible heritage and provide 
a platform for future research and or practice and policy 
initiatives with respect to the tourism, culture, health and 
agricultural sectors.

Heritage and Craft Sub-total                          $64,684,000
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World Records and brought worldwide recognition to her 
small district in the Cockpit Country. A bust, mounting in the 
community where she lived was initiated by the Government 
of Jamaica and the Trelawny Municipal Corporation and 
facilitated with funding from CHASE.

Historic sites and 
Monuments Sub-total                                       $16,205,691

    
ARTS AND 
CULTURE  TOTAL                    $200,546,107

Hope Gardens Entrance                                     $8,525,111

The Hope Gardens Entrance Project was aimed at 
enhancing the entrance of Hope Gardens by erecting a new 
gate, security guard house, lighting and other features that 
allow for improved access and egress at this popular and 
well-utilise heritage site. Additional funding was approved to 
assist in bridging the gap between the initial project estimates 
and actual costs based on construction, lighting and technical 
services bid prices.

Bust of Mrs. Violet Moss-Brown                         $680,580

For a 157-day period starting April 10, 2017, Violet 
Moss-Brown was the oldest living person in the world until 
her death at the age of 117 years and 189 days on September 
15, 2017.  Her longevity was recorded in the Guinness 
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Director Motor Vehicle
 Travelling

$

Honoraria
($)

Total
($)

All Other
Compensation

including Non-Cash 
Benefits as applicable

($)

Fees
($)

Omar Frith, (Chairman)                                     0                   269,893.00                      0                                  0                               269,893.00

Garth Anderson, (Director 1)                             0                  198,768.00                     0                                   0                                198,768.00

Ian Levy, (Director 2)                                          0                  397,536.00                     0                                  0                               397,536.00

Hidran McKulsky, (Director 3)                             0                   397,536.00                     0                                  0                               397,536.00

Merle Donaldson, (Director 4)                            0                   397,536.00                    0                                  0                               397,536.00

Robert Williams, (Director 5)                              0                   397,536.00                   0                                  0                               397,536.00

Nicole McLaren-Campbell, (Director 6)            0                   397,536.00                   0                                  0                               397,536.00

Novelette Howell, (Director 7)                          0                   397,536.00                      0                                  0                               397,536.00

O’Neal Mundle, (Director 8)                              0                   397,536.00                      0                                 0                               397,536.00

Hugh Croskery, (Director 11)                             0                  397,536.00                     0                                 0                               397,536.00

Rachael McDonald, (Director 12)                      0                  212,321.00                     0                                 0                               212,321.00

Duane Smith, (Director 9)                                  0                   397,536.00                     0                                  0                               397,536.00

Bindley Sangster, (Director 10)                           0                   397,536.00                      0                                   0                               397,536.00

Total $                                                                                                                                                                                              4,656,342.00

DIRECTORS’ COMPENSATION 2021-2022

”Improving Lives, Building Jamaica”
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•     A fully maintained motor vehicle is assigned to the Chief Executive Officer. $120,000 
       represents the taxable benefit allowed.
•     Senior Managers are paid twenty-five percent (25%) of their annual basic salary as gratuity
       in lieu of pension benefits.
•     All Senior Managers are covered under the company’s Health and Group Life Insurance
      Schemes
•     Emoluments stated are before tax.  M/V upkeep is a non-taxable benefit given to 
       employees based on their contract and has not been included in the Total Annual 
       Salary calculation.

Name and Position 
of Senior  Executive

Gratuity or 
Performance 

Incentive
($)

Travelling
Allowance or

Value of Assigned 
Motor Vehicle

($)

Other
Allowances

($)

Non-Cash 
Benefits

($)

Total
($)

Pension
or Other

Retirement 
Benefits

($)

Salary
($)

 8,418,825.00     3,316,126.00              120,000                       -                     -                     -             11,854,951.00
W. Billy Heaven
Chief Executive Officer

 6,056,918.00       656,398.00           1,697,148.00                   -                     -                     -               8,410,464.00

 4,922,405.00     3,411,858.00         1,697,148.00                  -                      -                      -             10,031,411.00

 5,448,281.00     1,306,986.00          1,697,148.00                  -                      -                     -               8,452,415.00Llewanna Simpson 
Finance Manager

Latoya Aquart-Foster
Project Manager

Hilary Coulton
Public Relations and 
Administrative Manager

SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ COMPENSATION 2021-2022

Total $                              24,846,429.00     8,691,368.00          5,211,444.00                  -                     -                    -              38,749,241.00
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

KPMG
Chartered Accountants
P.O. Box 436
6 Duke Street
Kingston
Jamaica, W.I.
+1 (876) 922 6640
firmmail@kpmg.com.jm

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We have audited the financial statements of Culture, Health, Arts, Sports and 
Education Fund (“the company”), set out on pages 43 to 65, which comprise the 
statement of financial position as at March 31, 2022, the statements of changes 
in funds, income and expenses, project disbursements and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of 
the financial position of the Company as at March 31, 2022, and of its financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Jamaican Companies 
Act.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International 
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants including International Independence Standards (IESBA 
Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND
(A company limited by guarantee)

KPMG, a Jamaican partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
global organization of independent member firms affiliated with 
KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited  
by guarantee. 

 
 

R. Tarun Handa Nigel R. Chambers Rochelle N. Stephenson 
Cynthia L. Lawrence Nyssa A. Johnson Sandra A. Edwards 
Rajan Trehan W. Gihan C. de Mel Karen Ragoobirsingh 
Norman O. Rainford Wilbert A. Spence 



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of
CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND
(A company limited by guarantee)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the Jamaican Companies Act, 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the company or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the company’s 
financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•    Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
      statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
      procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
      sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
      detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
      resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
      omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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To the Members of

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND
(A company limited by guarantee)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 

•    Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
     statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
     represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
     fair presentation.

•    Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern 
      basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
      material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
      significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
      we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
      attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 
      statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
      conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
      auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
      company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•    Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
      reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
      management. 

•    Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
      design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
      for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
      company’s internal control.
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We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been maintained, so far as 
appears from our examination of those records, and the financial statements, 
which are in agreement therewith, give the information required by the Jamaican 
Companies Act in the manner required.

Report on additional matters as required by the Jamaican Companies Act

Chartered Accountants
Kingston, Jamaica

July 1, 2022

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

To the Members of
CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND
(A company limited by guarantee)
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The financial statements on pages 43 to 65 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on
June 30, 2022 and signed on its behalf by:



 
CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
Statement of Changes in Funds 

  2202 ,13 hcraM dedne raeY
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  
 

 1202 2202 setoN 
 000’$ 000’$  

Additions 
 Government subventions/contributions to sector funds: 3(a) 

 158,022 686,632  dnuf erutluc dna strA 
 964,492 285,513  dnuf htlaeH 
 639,885 361,136  dnuf tnempoleved stropS 
 580,863    774,493     dnuf noitacude doohdlihc ylraE 

 143,274,1 809,775,1   

 571           012            stnemucod rednet fo elaS

 615,274,1 811,875,1 

 )c(5 :dnuf noitartsinimda ot emocnI 
  Government subvention/contribution    178,743 180,890 

 059,6 579,5  ten ,tseretnI
 044,1        933,7        rehtO  

 082,981    750,291      

 697,166,1 571,077,1  snoitidda latoT 
 
Deductions 
 Sector funds - Project disbursements: (page 47) 

 304,022 092,732  dnuf erutluc dna strA 
 864,492 285,513  dnuf htlaeH 
 639,885 361,136  dnuf tnempoleved stropS 
 531,863    325,273     dnuf noitacude doohdlihc ylraE 

 249,174,1 855,655,1   
 Administration fund: 

 848,451    674,871     sesnepxE  

 097,626,1 430,537,1  snoitcuded latoT 

Net increase in funds for year  600,53 141,53  
 

        -        )099,375   ( 21 diA-nI-noitairporppA
 
Funds balance at beginning of year  646,230,1 256,760,1  

Funds balance at end of year  256,760,1 308,825     
 
Represented by: 

 997,792 941,913 01 sdnuf rotces desrubsidnU 
 358,967    456,902     dnuf noitartsinimdA 

 256,760,1 308,825      
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CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
Statement of Cash Flows 

  2202 ,13 hcraM dedne raeY
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  
 

 
 1202 2202 setoN 
 000’$ 000’$  

Cash flows from operating activities 
 

 600,53 141,53  raey eht rof sdnuf ni esaercni teN 
 Adjustments for: 

 )132,356,1( )156,657,1(  noitnevbus tnemnrevoG  
 )059,6       ( )579,5       (  emocni tseretnI  

        -   )165,5       (   emocni rehtO  
  Revaluation of capital work in progress 6        6,161 (          307) 

      6 noitaicerpeD  38,328      13,748 

 )437,116,1( )755,886,1(    
 Changes in operating asset and liability: 

 695,2 )509,1       (  selbavieceR  
 )521          ( 905,61       selbayaP  

 )362,906,1( )359,376,1(    
 132,356,1 156,657,1  deviecer noitnevbuS
        - 165,5  deviecer emocni rehtO
 059,6        579,5         deviecer emocni tseretnI

 Net cash provided by operating activities       94,234      50,918 
 
Cash flows from investing activities 
 Purchase of property and equipment, being net  

cash used in investing activity 6 (       2,326) (       2,523) 

Cash flows from financing activity 
Appropriation-In-Aid, being cash used in financing  
 activity         -          )099,375   (  

 
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (   482,082) 48,395 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year     619,340    570,945 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year      137,258    619,340 
 
Represented by: 

 225,095 904,601  hsaC 
 818,82      948,03      8  stnemtsevni mret-trohS 

   043,916    852,731      
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CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
Administration Fund 
Statement of Income and Expenses 

  2202 ,13 hcraM dedne raeY
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
 

 1202 2202 setoN 
 000’$ 000’$  

Income 5(c) 
 059,6 579,5  tseretnI 
 098,081 347,871  noitnevbus tnemnrevoG 
 044,1     933,7       rehtO

 082,981 750,291   
Expenses 
 Advertising and public relations  5,059 4,001 

 002,2     -    noitarenumer ’srotiduA 
 513 541  segrahc knaB
 847,31 823,83  noitaicerpeD
 447 447  ecnanetniam esaeL

Directors’ reimbursable expenses  4,656 4,583 
 079 780,1  ecnarusnI

Motor vehicle maintenance and upkeep  10,205 10,078 
 036,2 955,2  seilppus eciffO
 324,2 107,1  sesnepxe gnitarepo rehtO
 101,41 271,9  sesnepxe tcejorP
 258 347  seef lanoisseforP
 054,6 536,5  ecnanetniam dna sriapeR
 942,3 964,3   ytiruceS
 401,97 398,08 31 stsoc ffatS

Travelling and entertainment  2,024 2,394 
 440,1 685,5  gniniarT

,6      seitilitU 470     5,962 

 Total expenses  178,476 154,848 

Surplus  234,43   185,31    
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CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
Statement of Project Disbursements 

  2202 ,13 hcraM dedne raeY
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

 1202 2202  
 000’$ 000’$  

Arts and Culture 
 022,74 782,611   tfarc dna egatireH 
 232,34 606,4  sevihcra dna seirarbiL 
 640,13 740,5  yraretiL 
 910,34 566,46  cisum dna mlif ,aideM 
 617 396,31  smuesum dna setis cirotsiH 
 260,45 886,52  stra gnimrofreP 
 801,1    731,6      stsoc lacinhceT 

 304,022 321,632   latoT 
       -        761,1      seef noitneteR 

 304,022 092,732   

Health 
 247,31 508,61  emmargorp erac recnaC 

 Equipping and enhancement of health facilities  256,516 156,663 
 881,74 750,71  emmargorp selytsefil yhtlaeH 
 359,2 949,3   esuba gurd fo noitneverP

 Training of health professionals  21,229 73,790 
   231        62           stsoC lacinhceT

 864,492 285,513   
Sports 

 639,885 361,136  dnuF tnempoleveD stropS 
 
Early Childhood Education 
 Building of basic schools and resource centers  91,995 47,389 
 Training of early childhood educators  48,106 46,639 
 Upgrading and equipping of basic schools  205,885 250,404 

 307,32   642,51    stsoc rehto dna lacinhceT 

 531,863 232,163   
       -       192,11    seef noitneteR

 531,863 325,273   
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

  2202 ,13 hcraM
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

 

1. Identification and activities 
 
 Culture, Health, Arts, Sports and Education Fund (“the company”) is a company not having 

a share capital, with liability limited by guarantee.  The liability of the members is limited to 
one dollar, in that every member undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company, in the 
circumstances set out in the Jamaican Companies Act, such amount as may be required, not 
exceeding one dollar ($1).  The company has 7 (2020: 7) members and is incorporated and 
domiciled in Jamaica, with registered office at 1 Devon Road, Kingston 10. 

 
 The principal activities of the company are to receive, administer, distribute and manage the 

monetary contributions of the lottery companies, pursuant to Section 59G of the Betting 
Gaming and Lotteries Act, in connection with arts and culture, health, sports development, 
and early childhood education.  The company pursues its objectives mainly through the 
granting of funds to organisations for qualified projects based on established criteria.  

 
 Effective April 1, 2017, under the new Betting, Gaming and Lotteries Act 2017, fees 

collected are considered revenue of the Government of Jamaica and should be paid directly 
or indirectly to the Consolidated Fund.   The company will cease to operate as self-financing 
and operate as a budget-funded entity whereby the annual operational and capital budgets 
will be incorporated in the budget of its parent Ministry. The Ministry assigned as parent to 
the company is the Office of the Prime Minister.  

 
 

2. Basis of preparation 
 
 (a) Statement of compliance 
 

 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
and comply with the relevant provisions of the Jamaican Companies Act.  

 
Certain new and amended standards which were in issue came into effect for the current 
financial year. The adoption of the amendments to the standards did not result in any 
changes to amounts recognised or disclosed in these financial statements. 

 
New and amended standards that are not yet effective 
 
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, certain new and amended 
standards were in issue but were not yet effective and had not been early-adopted by 
the company.  The company has decided that the following may be relevant to its 
financial statements: 

 

• Amendments to IAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022, and clarifies 
those costs that comprise the costs of fulfilling the contract.  

 
The amendments clarify that the ‘costs of fulfilling a contract’ comprise both the 
incremental costs - e.g. direct labour and materials; and an allocation of other 
direct costs - e.g. an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, 
plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract. 
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CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

  2202 ,13 hcraM
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 
2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
 (a) Statement of compliance (continued) 
 

New and amended standards that are not yet effective (continued) 
 
• Amendments to IAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

(continued) 
 
This clarification will require entities that apply the ‘incremental cost’ approach 
to recognise bigger and potentially more provisions. At the date of initial 
application, the cumulative effect of applying the amendments is recognised as 
an opening balance adjustment to retained earnings or other component of equity, 
as appropriate. The comparatives are not restated. 

 
• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 cycle contain amendments 

to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, IAS 41 Agriculture, and are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. 
 
(i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments amendment clarifies that – for the purpose 

of performing the ‘10 per cent test’ for derecognition of financial 
liabilities – in determining those fees paid net of fees received, a 
borrower includes only fees paid or received between the borrower and 
the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or 
lender on the other’s behalf. 

 

(ii) IFRS 16 Leases amendments removes the illustration of payments from 
the lessor relating to leasehold improvements.  

 

(iii) The amendments to IAS 41 Agriculture remove the requirement to 
exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring fair value, thereby 
aligning the fair value measurement requirements in IAS 41 with those 
in IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. 

 
• Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases is effective for annual periods beginning on or 

after April 1, 2022, with early application permitted. The amendments extend 
the practical expedient by 12 months - i.e. allowing lessees to apply it to rent 
concessions for which any reduction in lease payments affects only payments 
originally due on or before 30 June 2022. 
 
The 2021 amendments are applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of 
initially applying it being recognised in opening retained earnings. The 
disclosure requirements of Paragraph 28(f) of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors do not apply on initial application.  
 

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 and may be applied earlier. 
The amendments help companies provide useful accounting policy disclosures. 
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CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

  2202 ,13 hcraM
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 

 

2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
 (a) Statement of compliance (continued) 
 

New and amended standards that are not yet effective (continued) 
 

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (continued) 
 
The key amendments to IAS 1 include: 
 
§ requiring companies to disclose their material accounting policies rather 

than their significant accounting policies; 
 

§ clarifying that accounting policies related to immaterial transactions, other 
events or conditions are themselves immaterial and as such need not be 
disclosed; and 
 

§ clarifying that not all accounting policies that relate to material 
transactions, other events or conditions are themselves material to a 
company’s financial statements. 
 

The amendments are consistent with the refined definition of material: 
 
“Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with 
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably 
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general-purpose 
financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements”. 

 

• Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors are effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023, with 
early adoption permitted. The amendments introduce a new definition for 
accounting estimates: clarifying that they are monetary amounts in the financial 
statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. 
 
The amendments also clarify the relationship between accounting policies and 
accounting estimates by specifying that a company develops an accounting 
estimate to achieve the objective set out by an accounting policy. 
 
Developing an accounting estimate includes both: 
 

§ selecting a measurement technique (estimation or valuation technique) - e.g. 
an estimation technique used to measure a loss allowance for expected credit 
losses when applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments; and 
 

§ choosing the inputs to be used when applying the chosen measurement 
technique - e.g. the expected cash outflows for determining a provision for 
warranty obligations when applying IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

 
The effects of changes in such inputs or measurement techniques are changes in 
accounting estimates. 
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CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

  2202 ,13 hcraM
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
  
2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
 (a) Statement of compliance (continued) 

New and amended standards that are not yet effective (continued) 
 

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, will apply 
retrospectively for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023. The amendments promote consistency in application and clarify the 
requirements on determining if a liability is current or non-current.  

Under existing IAS 1 requirements, companies classify a liability as current 
when they do not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least twelve months after the end of the reporting period. As part of its 
amendments, the requirement for a right to be unconditional has been removed 
and instead, now requires that a right to defer settlement must have substance 
and exist at the end of the reporting period. A company classifies a liability as 
non-current if it has a right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after 
the reporting period. It has now been clarified that a right to defer exists only if 
the company complies with conditions specified in the loan agreement at the end 
of the reporting period, even if the lender does not test compliance until a later 
date. 

 
With the amendments, convertible instruments may become current. In light of 
this, the amendments clarify how a company classifies a liability that includes a 
counterparty conversion option, which could be recognised as either equity or a 
liability separately from the liability component under IAS 32. Generally, if a 
liability has any conversion options that involve a transfer of the company’s own 
equity instruments, these would affect its classification as current or non-current. 
It has now been clarified that a company can ignore only those conversion 
options that are recognised as equity when classifying liabilities as current or 
non-current.  

Management is evaluating the impact that the foregoing amendments and 
interpretations to the standards may have on its financial statements when they 
are adopted. 

(b) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis. 

 (c) Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements are presented in Jamaica dollars, which is the company’s 
functional currency. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of 
certain critical accounting estimates, based on assumptions and judgements.  
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CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

  2202 ,13 hcraM
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 
2. Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
 (d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued) 
 

It also requires management to make judgements, other than those involving 
estimations, in the process of applying the company’s accounting policies.  These 
estimates and judgements, affect the reported amounts of, and disclosures relating to, 
assets, liabilities, income, expenses, contingent assets and contingent liabilities.  
Although the estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events 
and actions, actual results may differ from those estimates.  

 
Estimates, and the assumptions underlying them, are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised and in any future periods affected.  Management does not believe that there are 
any estimates or judgements that have a significant effect on amounts or disclosures in 
the financial statements or which could lead to a change in estimates in the next 
financial year.  

 
 
3. Significant accounting policies 
 

(a) Recognition of inflows to funds 
 

 Inflows to the funds are materially contributions to which the company becomes 
entitled by law, and interest income.  These are recognised as follows:  

 
 Government subvention: 
 
 The subvention is recognised when received from the Government.  
 
 The subvention is allocated based on annual budget for projects and administration 

which is paid out on a monthly basis. 
 

 Contributions:  
 
 Contributions from the lottery companies are recognised when the lottery games are 

drawn, that is, they are accounted for on the accrual basis.  
 

 Contributions are allocated as follows after the deduction of amounts for the 
administration fund [note 5(c)]:  

 
  %51    dnuF erutluC dna strA 
  %02    dnuF htlaeH 

 Sports Development Fund    40%  
 Early Childhood Education Fund    25%  

 %001   
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CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

  2202 ,13 hcraM
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(a) Recognition of inflows to funds (continued) 
  

 Interest income: 
 

Interest income is recognised in the statement of changes in funds for all interest-
earning instruments as earned, that is, it is accounted for on the accrual basis, using the 
effective interest method. 
 

(b) Property and equipment and depreciation 
 

 (i) Owned assets: 
 

• Recognition and measurement: 
 

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, with the exception of land and capital 
work-in-progress which are not depreciated. 

 
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of 
materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing 
the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs of 
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they 
are located. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the 
related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment. 
 
When parts of an item of property or equipment have different useful lives, 
they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property 
and equipment. 

 
• Subsequent costs: 

 
  The cost of replacing part of an item of property or equipment is 

recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the 
future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the 
company and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-
day servicing of property and equipment are recognised as expenses, as 
incurred. 

 
(ii) Depreciation: 

 
Property and equipment, with the exception of land and capital work-in-progress, 
on which no depreciation is provided, are depreciated on the straight-line method 
at annual rates estimated to write down the assets to their recoverable amount 
over the assets’ expected useful lives. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b) Property and equipment and depreciation (continued) 
 

(ii) Depreciation (continued): 
 

The depreciation rates are as follows: 
 

 %½2 gnidliuB   
   Office equipment and furniture  10-20% 

 %02  selcihev rotoM   
33  tnempiuqe retupmoC   ⅓ % 

 
  Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each 

reporting date. 
 
  Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable 

amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount.  
 
  Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by 

reference to their carrying amount and are reflected in the Administration fund. 
 

(c) Impairment  
 

The company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial 
assets measured at amortised cost. The company measures loss allowances at an 
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

 
The company considers a financial asset to be in default when: 

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the company in full, without 
recourse by the company to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or 

- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due. 
 

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of a financial instrument.  

 
Measurement of ECLs  

 
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured 
as the present value of all cash shortfalls (ie. the difference between the cash flows due 
to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the company 
expects to receive). 

 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the 
gross carrying amount of the assets. 
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  2202 ,13 hcraM
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 
3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Foreign currencies  

Foreign exchange transactions are converted to Jamaica dollars at the appropriate rates 
of exchange ruling on transaction dates.  Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into Jamaica dollars at the appropriate rates of exchange ruling 
at the financial year end. Gains and losses arising from fluctuations in exchange rates 
are reflected in the statement of changes in funds. 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash comprises cash on hand and savings and demand deposits.  Cash equivalents are 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost. 

(f) Receivables  

Receivables are measured at amortised cost less, if any, impairment losses. 

(g) Payables 

Payables are measured at amortised cost. 

(h) Expenses 

Expenses are accounted for on the accrual basis. 

(i) Financial instruments 
 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one 
entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.  Financial 
instruments carried in the statement of financial position include cash and cash 
equivalents, short-term investments, receivables and payables.  The determination of 
the fair values of the company’s financial instruments is discussed in note 4. 
 
Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position include receivables, 
short-term investments, cash and cash equivalents and accounts payable.  
 
Initial recognition, classification and subsequent measurement 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as “at amortised cost”. 
 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the 
company changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all 
affected financial assets are reclassified on the first reporting period following the 
change in the business model. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(i) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

Initial recognition, classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 
 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following 
conditions and are not designated as at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL): 
 
- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect 

contractual cash flows, and  

- its contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
Amortised cost represents the net present value (“NPV”) of the consideration 
receivable as of the transaction date. This classification of financial assets comprises 
the following captions: 
 
• Receivables;  

 
• Short term investments and  

 
• Cash and cash equivalents. 

 
Financial assets - Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest: 
 
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the 
financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time 
value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount 
outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and 
costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 
 
Financial assets  
at amortised cost  
 
 
 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. Interest income is 
recognised in ‘income to the administration fund’, and 
impairment is recognised in 'impairment losses on financial 
instruments' in the statement of changes in funds. Any gain or 
loss on de-recognition is also recognised in the statement of 
changes in funds. 

 
Financial liabilities - Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
The company’s financial liabilities, which include payables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and foreign exchange gains 
and losses are recognised in statement of changes in funds. 
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4. Financial instruments 
 

(a) Fair value 
 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Market 
price is used to determine fair value where an active market exists as it is the best 
evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument. 

 
  Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy  
 

IFRS specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those 
valuation techniques are observable or unobservable.  The different levels have been 
defined as follows: 
 
Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities.  
 

IFRS specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those 
valuation techniques are observable or unobservable.  The different levels have been 
defined as follows: 

 
 Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy 
 

Level 2 -  Discounted cash flow technique using a discount rate from observable 
market data, i.e. average of several brokers/dealers market indicative yields 
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 
Level 3 - Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. 

 
The company’s financial assets and financial liabilities are classified as at amortised 
cost and other financial liabilities, respectively. 

 
(b) Financial risk management 

 
The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including 
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk.  The company’s overall risk management programme 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential 
adverse effects on the company’s financial performance. 

 
The company’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these 
risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence 
to limits by means of reliable and up-date information systems.  The company regularly 
reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets, 
products and emerging best practice. 
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4. Financial instruments (continued) 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of 
the company’s risk management framework.  The Board provides principles for overall 
risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange 
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and investment of excess liquidity. 
 
(i) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the company will suffer a financial loss because of the 
failure of a counterparty to discharge its contractual obligations.  The company 
takes on exposure to credit risk in the normal course of its operations.  Credit risk 
is the most important risk for the company; management, therefore, carefully 
manages its exposure to credit risk. 

Exposure to credit risk 
 
Credit exposures arise principally from cash and bank, and short-term investment 
activities.  The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was the 
carrying amount of financial assets in the statement of financial position. 

In relation to exposure by issuer, there is concentration of credit risk as 100% of 
investments are with National Commercial Bank.  
 
In relation to exposure by geography, the counterparties to these financial 
instruments are located principally in Jamaica. 

Management of credit risk: 

The company manages the level of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on 
the amount of risk accepted in relation to a single counterparty or group of related 
counterparties.  In addition, management performs ongoing analysis of the ability 
of counterparties to meet repayment obligations.  

(1) Short-term investments  

 The company limits its exposure to credit risk by investing mainly in a 
reputable bank that has a high credit rating.  Management does not expect 
the counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.  

(2) Cash and bank 

  The credit risk associated with cash is managed by limiting banking 
relationships to high credit rating financial institutions. 

  There was no change during the year in the nature of the company’s 
exposure to credit risk or the manner in which it measures and manages 
the risk. 
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4. Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(ii) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company is unable to meet its payment 
obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they fall due. Prudent 
liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable 
securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed 
credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. 

 
Liquidity risk management process 

 
The company’s liquidity management process includes: 

 
(1) monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This 

incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of 
high grade collateral which could be used to secure funding if required;  

 
(2) optimising cash returns on short-term investments; and 

 
(3) managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.  

 
Undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 
 
The company has no significant outflows in respect of financial liabilities. 
Payables at year-end are due within 3 months and the company has adequate 
cash resources to cover these, as well as project disbursements.  
 

  There was no change during the year in the nature of the company’s exposure to 
liquidity risk or the manner in which it measures and manages the risk. 

 
(iii) Market risk 

 
 The company takes on exposure to market risks.  Market risk is the risk that the 

fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market risk arises mainly from changes in foreign 
currency exchange rates and interest rates.   

 Foreign currency risk 
 

 Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.  The company is primarily 
exposed to such risks arising from its United States dollar transactions and 
United States dollar denominated assets.  The balance at March 31, 2022, 
includes foreign currency assets of approximately US$214,865 (2021: 
US$213,766) in respect of transactions arising in the ordinary course of business. 

At the reporting date, the exchange rate of the Jamaica dollar to the United States 
dollar was J$153.78 (2021: J$146.58). 
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4. Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(iii) Market risk (continued) 
 

 Foreign currency risk (continued) 
 

Sensitivity to exchange rate movements 
  
 A 2% (2021: 2%) strengthening of the Jamaica dollar against the United States 

dollar at 31 March would have decreased profit by approximately $660,839 
(2021: $626,675).  A 8% (2021: 6%) weakening of the Jamaica dollar against 
the United States dollar at March 31 would increase profit by approximately 
$1,982,516 (2021: $1,880,026). 

 
 This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rate, remain 

constant.  The analysis was done on the same basis as that for 2021.  
 

Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Floating 
rate instruments expose the company to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed 
interest rate instruments expose the company to fair value interest risk.  

 
The company’s interest rate risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by 
investing in short-term liquid securities.  The following table summarises the 
company’s exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the company’s financial 
instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual 
repricing or maturity dates.  

   2022   
   -noN   
   -tseretnI 3 nihtiW    

 latoT gniraeb shtnom   
 000’$ 000’$ 000’$   

 Assets: 
 Receivables  -       259,903 259,903 
 Short-term investments 30,831 18 30,849 
 Cash  106,409      -        106,409 

 Total financial assets 137,240 259,921 397,161 
 

Liabilities: 
Payables, being total financial 

 liabilities        -         36,498   36,498 

 Total interest, repricing gap 137,240 223,423 360,663 

 Interest repricing  137,240 360,663       -       
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4. Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(b) Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(iii) Market risk (continued) 
 

Interest rate risk (continued) 
   1202   

 -noN     
   tseretni 3 nihtiW    

 latoT gniraeb shtnom    
 000’$ 000’$ 000’$    

 Assets: 
 Receivables  -       257,998 257,998 
 Short-term investments 28,774 44 28,818 
 Cash  590,522       -       590,522 

 Total financial assets 619,296 258,042 877,338 
 

Liabilities: 
Payables, being total financial 

 liabilities        -         19,989   19,989 

 Total interest, repricing gap 619,296 238,053 857,349 

 Interest repricing   619,296 857,349        -       
  
There was no change during the year in the nature of the company’s exposure to 
market risks or the manner in which it measures and manages the risk.  

 
 
5. Operating activities 
 

(a) The company administers the Arts and Culture Fund, Early Childhood Education Fund 
and Health Fund. 

 
(b) The Sports Development Foundation administers the Sports Development Fund. 

 
(c) Administration fund 

 
Effective April 1, 2017, management is required to submit a budget of administrative 
expenditure to the parent Ministry, which then funds the operations on a monthly basis. 
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6. Property and equipment 

      
  Furniture   Capital 

   ni kroW rotoM retupmoC dna eciffO   
latoT ssergorP selciheV tnempiuqE sgnittiF tnempiuqE gnidliuB dnaL 
 000’$  000’$ 000’$ 000’$ 000’$ 000’$ 000’$ 000’$ 

Cost 
 March 31, 2020 35,000 134,016 39,883 8,477 8,269 12,980 48,728 287,353 

Addition      -           -           367 22 1,571           -      563 2,523 
  Revaluation      -             -       -         -        -           -      307        307 
 Reallocation      -            -       13,255     -          -           -      (13,255)       -        

 March 31, 2021 35,000 134,016 53,505 8,499 9,840 12,980 36,343 290,183 
 Additions -      -      270 1,170 886 -      -      2,326 
 Transfer out -      -      -      -     30,182 -      (30,182) -       
 Revaluation      -             -           -          -          -           -      (  6,161) (    6,161) 

March 31, 2022 35,000 134,016 53,775 9,669 40,908 12,980      -      286,348 
 

Depreciation 
 March 31, 2020      -        13,152 32,272 4,993 7,781   7,934      -        66,132 
 Charge for the year      -         3,350   7,753    555      356   1,734      -        13,748 

  March 31, 2021      -      16,502   40,025 5,548 8,137   9,668     -        79,880 
Charge for the year      -          3,350   1,732    656 30,934   1,656      -        38,328 

March 31, 2022      -        19,852 41,757 6,204 39,071 11,324      -      118,208 
 
Net book values 
 March 31, 2022 35,000 114,164 12,018 3,465   1,837   1,656      -      168,140 

 March 31, 2021 35,000 117,514 13,480 2,951   1,703   3,312 36,343 210,303 

7. Receivables  
 1202 2202  
 000’$ 000’$  

 798,01 897,21 stnemyaperp dna selbaviecer rehtO 
 101,742 501,742 elbarevocer xat emocnI 

 899,752 309,952  

8. Short-term investments 
 1202 2202  
 000’$ 000’$  

 477,82 138,03 stisoped mret-dexif $SU 
 44        81        elbaviecer tseretnI 

 818,82 948,03   

9. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include an amount of $37,041,373 (2021: $Nil) which is to be 
transferred to the Government of Jamaica.  
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10. Undisbursed sector funds 
 
 These include the following: 

 1202 2202  
 000’$ 000’$  

 Committed amounts:  
 548,712 997,932 noitacudE 
 670,32 670,32 htlaeH 
 878,65    472,65    erutluC dna strA 

 997,792 941,913   
 
 These amounts have been authorised for disbursement by the Board of Directors but, as at 

the reporting date, had not been disbursed. 
 
 
11. Payables 

 1202 2202  
 000’$ 000’$  

 
 633,4 475,2 deurcca seef tiduA 
 555,4 058,9 elbayap ytiutarG 
     - 854,21 elbayap seef noitneteR 
 890,11 616,11  rehtO 

 989,91 894,63   
 
12. Appropriation In Aid 
 
 These are monies collected by the company prior to March 31, 2017 which were approved 

by Parliament for projects over the period April 2017 to March 31, 2021. The approved 
amount were not fully disbursed by the company. During the year the company transferred 
$573,990,000 (2021: $Nil) representing Appropriation-In-Aid funds to the Consolidated 
Fund. 

 
 
13. Staff costs 

 1202 2202  
 000’$ 000’$  

 
 206,46 139,46  segaw dna seiralaS 
 008,6 725,7  snoitubirtnoc lloryap yrotutatS 
 207,7   534,8   rehtO 

 401,97 398,08 
14. Income tax 
 

The company’s income tax payable has been waived by the Minister of Finance and Planning 
under Section 86 of the Income Tax Act, inter-alia, allowing the company to be reimbursed 
for withholding tax on interest earned.  Effective June 25, 2015, the company was designated 
an Approved Charitable Organization as defined in Section 2 of the Income Tax Act. This 
means that the company is eligible for tax exemption or relief under the Income Tax, GCT, 
Stamp Duty, Transfer Tax, Property Tax and Customs Acts.  
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15. Related party 
 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the company. 

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the company if that 
person: 
 
(i) has control or joint control over the company; 

(ii) has significant influence over the company; or 

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the company. 
 
(b) An entity is related to the company if any of the following conditions applies: 
 

(i) The entity and the company are members of the same group (which means that 
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). 

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or 
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate 
of the third entity. 

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of 
either the company or an entity related to the company. 

(vi) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a). 
 

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a 
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the 
entity). 

 

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key 
management personnel services to the company or to the parent of the 
company. 

 
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between 
the company and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. 

 
Key management personnel comprise directors and executive management personnel.  
Key management personnel compensation for the year, comprising short-term 
employee benefits included in staff costs (note 13), is as follows: 
 

 1202 2202  
 000’$ 000’$  

 
 Directors’ emoluments - reimbursable expenses 4,656 4,583 

 581,73 947,83   segaw dna seiralaS 
 979,1 571,2 snoitubirtnoc lloryap yrotutatS 
 417,3   869,4   rehtO 

 164,74 845,05   

 

“Improving Lives, Building Jamaica”       2022 Annual Report64



“Improving Lives, Building Jamaica”       2022 Annual Report 65 

 
CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued) 

  2202 ,13 hcraM
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 
16. Contingencies 
 

A claim brought against the Company for damages in a case of alleged breach of contract, 
resulted in the Company countersuing on the basis of contractual breach and damages 
suffered plus interest on damages and costs.  Pleading have been closed on the matter since 
June 2019, and the matter referred to mediation scheduled for June 2021. The matter 
remained unsettled at mediation and was returned to court on July 21, 2022. Next case 
reference date likely to be in May 2022. 
 
The company in another case, issued and received a claim for damages arising from a breach 
of contract which resulted in a default judgment on the failure and/or refusal to honour a 
guarantee totaling $5,076,532.10 plus interest from the date of judgment on May 20, 2021. 
 
Adequate provision for legal fees estimated at $500,000 plus general consumption tax was 
made by the Company. 

 
 
17. COVID-19 Impact 
 

The effects of COVID-19 did not have a significant impact on the Company’s funding 
sources nor its core objectives and as such no material uncertainty exists that would cast 
doubt on its ability to continue as a going concern. The effects of COVID-19 impacted the 
company’s operational/administrative processes related to project procurement and 
implementation, however, due to strategic planning sector targets for the year were not 
significantly affected. 
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July 1, 2022 

The accompanying pages 68 to 74 are presented as additional information only. In
this respect, they do not form part of the financial statements of Culture, Health, 
Arts, Sports and Education Fund as of and for the year ended March 31, 2022,
and hence are excluded from the opinion expressed in our report dated July 1,
2022 to the members on such financial statements.  The information on pages 68 
to 74 has been subject to audit procedures only to the extent necessary to 
express an opinion on the financial statements of the company..

Rochelle N. Stephenson
Sandra A. Edwards 
Karen Ragoobirsingh 

R. Tarun Handa
Cynthia L. Lawrence
Rajan Trehan
Norman O. Rainford

Nigel R. Chambers
Nyssa A. Johnson
W. Gihan C. de Mel
Wilbert A. Spence

KPMG, a Jamaican partnership and a member firm of the KPMG 
global organization of independent member firms affiliated with 
KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited  
by guarantee. 
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 1202 2202 
 000’$ 000’$ 

ARTS AND CULTURE FUND 
 
Heritage and Craft  
  592,3 974,61 xelpmoC esopruP -itluM kraP redraC

 437     - ertneC larutluC ytinummoC eltsaC
C.P.T.C facilities Upgr  000,71     - eda
Craft Training & Production Centre for Persons with Intellectual 

 924,2 638 ytilibasiD 
 92     - agaeS noH tsoM eht ot setubirT larutluC 
 000,4     - trebbiH stooT kcirederF ot etubirT larutluC 

 476     - ertneC larutluC ytinummoC stalF notsellE 
 616,5 794,1 ertneC larutluC ytinummoC llaH yddiG 
      - 000,01 tsetnoC gnoS lavitseF – snoitarbeleC 95 aciamaJ 
      - 005,53 stcejorP ycageL & snoitarbeleC 06 aciamaJ 

 Preserving the Legacy - The Heritage of Cricket Clubs 3,563 6,887 
 Research Project – Identity & Heredity German Ancestry Seaford 1,288 -      

 058     -  ertneC larutluC tnioP ykcoR 
 866,4 421,04 ertneC larutluC ytinummoC kcolrehS 
 125     - ertneC larutluC ytinummoC nrevaT 

 Towards Port Royal’s Nomination to the World Heritage List 7,000 -      
 715          -         ertneC larutluC ytinummoC kcotsdooW 

 022,74 782,611   
Libraries and Archives  

 005,72 628 gninraeL enilnO troppuS ot pihsrentraP SLJ/ESAHC 
 051,1     - edargpU yrarbiL loohcS yramirP sallaD 

  000,2     - gnihsibrufeR - ecivreS yrarbiL aciamaJ
 000,01     - troppuS lanoitutitsnI - tsurT egatireH lanoitaN aciamaJ 
 151,1     - noitarotseR yrarbiL dnilB eht rof yteicoS aciamaJ 
      - 605 yrarbiL loohcS yramirP ecnedivorP weN 

 Operation Restoration Christian School Library/Resource Room -     56 
 573,1 637 nerdlihC rof emoH selgnirP 
       -      835,2       ertneC strA evitaerC noitadnuoF s’kcirtaP .tS 

 232,34 606,4        

Literary 
      - 573 oT noillebeR morF ,nodneralC 
 051     - tnemevlovnI latneraP - kniL gnissiM s’noitacudE 
      - 749,1 etutitsnI hcraeseR agaeS drawdE 
 000,52     -  aciamaJ fo etutitsnI 
 005     - nerdlihC rof smeoP nuF !emiT gnimyhR s’tI 
      - 579 serutciP ni egatireH ,snoitacilbuP tsurT egatireH THNJ 
 053     - serusaerT aciamaJ/epacserutaN aciamaJ 
 913,2     - sdihcrO dliW s’aciamaJ 
      - 613,1 aciamaJ a nopU ecnO 
 000,2     - noitadnuoF relliM nospmiS aitroP 

 Redemption Songs:  Reading Scriptures for the Community 99 67 
 066     - 1202-0202 tcejorP tsacdoP paeH nairB ehT 
       -      533        htimS kcirreD - stnioP gninruT 

 640,13 740,5      
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 1202 2202 
 000’$ 000’$ 

ARTS AND CULTURE FUND 
 
Media, Film & Music  
 BFA Film Production York University, Jadon-John Barton Williams -     3,081 
 Leasho Johnson - MFA Studio Painting & Drawing (US$9,000) -     346 

 005     - troppuS ycnegremE - tnemevoM ertaehT elttiL 
      - 051 wergitteP anerteP - noitacudE trA AB 

 BA Acting, Royal School of Speech and Drama – Sule Thelwell 978 -      
 BA Music Contemporary Writing - Evad Campbell - (US$15,550) -     2,299 

 169,2     - eilseL meedaK - ytisrevinU llaH notaeS - cisuM AB 
      - 236,4 stnarG lanoitacudE 
 977,1 831 seirtsudnI evitaerC niatnuoM hgiH 

 Him Bawn…A Jamaican Christ       - 043,1 atatnaC sam
 Kimiela “Candy” Isaacs Home St       - 09 tnempiuqE oidu

 368,42 05 1202 htnoM eaggeR 
      - 995,73 2202 htnoM eaggeR 

 Master of Philosophy - Cultural Studies (UWI) - Hugh Douse 2 970 
 Musical Instruments & Equipment for Teachers’ Colleges 12,031 -      
 Ontarian Collage of Art Design BFA Photography - Tori Harding -     1,012 

 051 051 licnuoC inamhaJ - strA eniF AB 
     - 799,1 regnittoP neruaL - ngiseD lairtsudnI AFB 
     - 051 nodroG naivaD - noitacudE cisuM AB 
     - 051 nworB rameD - noitacudE cisuM AB 
     - 051 htimS yrogerG - noitacudE cisuM AB 
     - 051 yrneH anayI - noitacudE cisuM AB 
     - 051 gnahP elyK - noitacudE cisuM AB 
     - 051 sillE eciruaM - noitacudE cisuM AB 
     - 051 spillihP ailiakaN  noitacudE cisuM AB 
 051 051 niffiK naivaJ - noitacudE cisuM AB 
     - 516 nworB aikehsaS - ecnamrofreP cisuM AB 
 051     - drofniaR haisoJ  - ecnamrofreP cisuM AB 
 051     - nworB leahciM - noitacudE cisuM AB 
 854     - noslohciN nodnarB - )IWU( noitaminA AFB 
 003     - elyaG nnA-syrC - elitxeT AFB 
 051     - nodroG yomaK - noitacudE cisuM AB 
 051     - hgnisradiG oiraM - noitacudE cisuM AB
 051     - retnyW airdnaxelA - noitacudE AB
 051     - nospmohT ahsilnaT - noitacudE cisuM AB
 051     - retnepraC notlraD noitacudE cisuM AB
 051     - eizneKcM naoJ - gnitcA ertaehT AB
 051     - ttenneB leahciM - noitacudE cisuM AB
 003     - notgnilleW meehaR - noitacudE AB
 051     - snevetS inaleD noitacudE cisuM AB
 051     - sttekciR leinaD - noitacudE cisuM BM
 051     - enruobsO enedrA - noitacudE cisuM AB
 001     - llaH kciwdahC - noitacudE cisuM AB
 051     - wahS leinaD - strA lausiV AFB
 051     - reklaW anaidloG - noitacudE amarD AB
 051          -       kconniP darB - strA eniF AB

 
 915,14 279,06 70 egap ot drawrof deirrac latoT
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 2022 2021 
 $’000 $’000 
ARTS AND CULTURE FUND (CONTINUED) 
 
Media, Film & Music (continued) 
 

 915,14 279,06 69 egap morf drawrof thguorb latoT
 

 051      - nagroM nosaJ - noitacudE cisuM AB
 051      - trebbiH neddaM mairiM - noitacudE cisuM AB
 051 051 htimS allicirP - noitacudE cisuM AB
 051      - spillihP amiehehR - noitacudE cisuM AB
 051      - effaT airotciV - noitacudE cisuM AB
 051      - trawetS levahC - noitacudE cisuM AB
 051      - gnilretS ahsieM - noitacudE cisuM AB
 051      - skcirraG ociemaR - ecnamrofreP cisuM AB
 051      - newoB nnA eilseL - noitacudE cisuM AB
 051      - sdniH yaK ahsaS - yranilpicsiD retnI AFB
      - 529,1 eirmoC werdnA - APVCME cisuM csB
       - 542 nothguaH notniV - noitacudE cisuM AM
      - 002,1 nworB elleinaD - ecnamrofreP lacoV AM

Pre College Certificate, Music Fundamentals – Jovayn Harrison      173     -        

 910,34 566,46  
Historic Sites & Museums 

      - 186 nworB-ssoM teloiV .srM rof tsuB ot esaB 
 21     - 7102 noitanuorG 
 407      265,21 etaG ecnartnE - snedraG epoH 
       -      054      notsgniK nwotnwoD lufituaeB a gnitaerC-eR 

 617      396,31  
Performing Arts  

 808      - uoL ssiM fo lainnetneC eht gnitarbeleC fo syaD 001 
 433      - sdrawA yoB rotcA 

 Ananse Sound Splash - Story Telling Conference and Festival  -      1,500 
 952,3 201 noitavoneR & noisnapxE cisuM fo loohcS ahplA 
 005,1      - noitnevretnI cisuM loohcS hgiH notslA 

 Annotto Bay Multi Purpose Complex Music and Arts Centre -      1,600 
      - 001 1202 enuJ ni scissalC 
 823,2      - stcejorP yparehT murD 
 14      - dnaB gnihcraM sthgieH  
 725      -    9102 sdrawA ruonoH AIRAJ  
      - 439 trecnoC noitarbeleC nairtsuA naciamaJ 
      - 925 opxE evitaerC aciamaJ 
 000,5      - tsirhC rof htuoY aciamaJ 
 143      - enawhsT ot yenruoJ - elarohC htuoY aciamaJ 
 091      - noititepmoC dnaB loohcS tseB s’aciamaJ 
 000,5      - semmargorP CDCJ 
 492,1      - nosaeS trecnoC sasoidoleM secoV xaL 
 949,41 941,1 evitaitinI dnuF esahC - sloohcS ni cisuM 
 334,3         -  sloohcS semaJ .tS lartneC - sloohcS ni cisuM 

 National Dance Theatre Company Limited - Institutional Support -      1,647 
 057           - hcnuaL laiciffO - aciamaJ fo artsehcrO cinomrahlihP 
 764,2        -      hcraeseR dna noitavreserP s’retsiniM emirP 

 
 869,64 418,2   71 egap ot drawrof deirrac latoT
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 2022 2021 
 $’000 $’000 
ARTS AND CULTURE FUND (CONTINUED) 
 
Performing Arts (continued) 
 

 869,64   418,2     70 egap morf drawrof thguorb latoT
 

 000,1      - dnaB gnihcraM tnioP ykcoR 
 05 473,22 ertneC strA gnimrofreP loohcS hgiH enirehtaC .tS 
 003,1      - dnaB loohcS hgiH yraM .tS 
 385      - nwoT yoJ - emmargorP erutuF ruoY fo egrahC gnikaT 

 Utech Festival of the Arts Cu  534,1      - esacwohS larutl
 000,2      - troppuS emmargorP sregniS IWU 
 627      - emmargorP cisuM IWU 

       -        005        noitidE enilnO ehT – eessoP neercsdniW 

 260,45   886,52    

Technical and other costs*  801,1     731,6     

Retention     1,167        -       

Total  304,022 092,732 
 

* - Technical costs represent direct technical support provided to the Arts & Culture sector. 
  

HEALTH FUND  
Cancer Care Programme  
  247,31   508,61    troppuS
 

Equipping and Enhancement of Health Facilities 
  971,3 971,3 nerdlihC rof latipsoH etnamatsuB - sdeB

     - 056,16 snoitutitsnI eraC yradnoceS rof sdeB 
 Carm Machine service - Spanish Town Hospital (US$26,000) 3,800 2,705 

     - 041,21 latipsoH lanoigeR ellivednaM – enihcaM mrA-C 
 339,11 153,21 latipsoH lanoigeR ellivednaM - senihcaM sisylaiD 

Digital Radiographic X-Ray Unit - May Pen (US$385,000) 1,049 1,083 
 716,32 085,6 AHRS - sertneC htlaeH dna slatipsoH rof tnempiuqE 
 890,43     - IHWU – tinU azneulfnI lanoitaN rof tnempiuqE 

 Equipment for Savanna-la-mar Public General Hospital -WRHA 8,953  
 595,7     - ertneC htlaeH rednaxelA - yrotarobaL fo noisnapxE 
 052     - ertneC htlaeH novednelG
 320,3 425 latipsoH cilbuP notsgniK - tinU ycnednepeD hgiH
      -    262,4 emmargorP tnalpsnarT yendiK aciamaJ
 702     - 0202 yaD seitilibasiD rof sinawiK

Medical gas pipes and operating beds - Falmouth Public General Hospital 4,064 10,236 
Next Generation Genome Sequencer- National Influenza Centre 37,388    -      

 337,41     - edargpU lacirtcelE - latipsoH semloH leoN
Paediatric Dialysis Programme  - Jamaica Kidney Kids Foundation 2,398    -      

 714,7 014 latipsoH lanoigeR ellivednaM - yrotarobaL ygolohtaP
Pathology Storage Unit - Mandeville Regional Hospital 371 14,442 
Renovation of Operating Theatre in Outpatient - Kingston Public Hospital -     586 

      - 003,66 AHRS- latipsoH notelpahC eht fo noitavoneR
Rotary Club of North St. Andrew-Staff Bus for JA Cancer Society 774   -      
Standby Generator - Port Maria Hospital & Health Complex 10,854 12,447 

     - 146,41 latipsoH airaM troP - rotavelE potS owT
 211,9     828,4      yrotarobaL eliretS lacituecamrahP IWU 

366,651 615,652 72 egap ot drawrof deirrac latoT  
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CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 

  2202 ,13 hcraM dedne raeY
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 2022 2021 
 $’000 $’000 
HEALTH FUND (CONTINUED) 
 
Healthy Lifestyles Programme 
  

 366,651 615,652 71 egap ot morf drawrof thguorb latoT 
 

 058 215 evitaitinI ssenlleW ffatS - dnuF ESAHC 
 Consie Walters Cancer Care Hospice - Institutional Support -      (       18) 

 045,11 814,7 esaesiD laneR rof tnemtaerT sisylaiD 
 Gym Equipment - Merlene Ottey High & Knockalva Technical High -      2,777 
 Jamaica Dental Association 49th  037       - noitnevnoC 

 494      - tnempoleveD ytinummoC rof noitadnuoF aciamaJ 
 Jamaica Protective Services Division - JCF Sports Club-Gym Eqpmt 2,078 -     

 887,2      - ”tcejorP sevoM aciamaJ“ - HOM 
 576,42      - sloohcS ni noitazitinaS - tcejorP sloohcS tneiliseR TEN 
 149,2      - kraP ssenlleW llaH ekorbmeP 
 52 117 AEJ - sloohcS ni emmargorP noitazitisneS 

 Salt Spring Health Centre - Fence, Light Sanitation Project 6,293 -     
 )54       ( 54 riaF htlaeH launnA egelloC s’rehcaeT doowtrohS 

 Soroptimist Intl. Kingston - International Women’s Day 2016 -      261 
 071           -      seitilibasiD htiw nerdlihC fo tnemtaerT - IWU 

 881,74 750,71  
Prevention of Drug Abuse 

 359,2   949,3   secivreS tnemeganaM efiL esiR 
 
Training of Health Professionals  

 008,1      - htimS leuqcaR .rD -ygolocnO noitaidaR 
 Radiation Oncology (R60,000) - Dr. Stephern Alexander 626  -       

 000,06      -   lortnoC rotceV - HOM 
     - 000,3 samohT hgielsA - )IWU( yregruS latneD cSB 

 BSc of Medical Dentistry (UTECH) - Shanique Dunstan 1,690 -     
 BSc Nursing (EXED Community College) - Toni Tyndale 280 -     

     - 441 gnisruN fo loohcS naebbiraC 
     - 048,1 yarF assylA - )IWU( yrtsitneD lacideM fo rotcoD 
 906,2      - gnidraH leuS - )HCETU( yrtsitneD fo rotcoD 
 000,1      - ecnerefnoC seidutS ytilibasiD rof ertneC IWU 
    - 779,9 suB retsaoC - secneicS lacideM fo ytlucaF IWU 
 982      - tnarG nodnarB - SBBM IWU 
  059 reehgaN ramaD - SBBM IWU
 000,2      - gnoF leinaD - SBBM IWU 
     - 584 orellabaC nodnelG - SBBM IWU 
 005,1      - nosrednA alraK - SBBM IWU 
 449,1      - nosugreF wehttaM - SBBM IWU 
 000,2 749,1 halaL assileM - SBBM IWU 
    - 092 nayrB ahsiekciN - SBBM IWU 
 846             -        rreK ennaesoR - SBBM IWU 

    21,229   73,790 

Technical and other Costs          26        132 

Total  864,492 285,513 
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CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 

  2202 ,13 hcraM dedne raeY
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 2022 2021 
 $’000 $’000 
EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION FUND  
 
Building of Basic School 

 693,11 576  loohcS tnafnI & yramirP lliH eerF 
 984,3       - tnafnI & yramirP elaV luftiurF 
      -   926,1  tnafnI & yramirP llaH emiL 
 405,23 525,88 loohcS tnafnI neP yaM 

       -      661,1   tnafnI & yramirP dleifekaW 

 983,74 599,19  

Training of Early Childhood Educators  
 435,2 944 nosrednA nnA yecarT - noitacudE fo rotcoD
 006,93 000,23 pihsralohcS gniniarT rehcaeT doohdlihC ylraE 
      - 000,01 stnafnI ot stiK gninraeL fo noisivorP CCE
      - 086 stneraP/srenoitcarP doohdlihC ylraE fo gniniarT CCE

Ed. D Reading Education - Nova Southeastern University, Anthonette Wright 982 506 
M Ed in Educational Administration-Marilyn Walker-Salmon 1,659 -      

      - 054 yrneH ledraN - noitacudE laicepS dE M
 211,1      - relliM enerdnA - noitacudE csM
 301      - ecnerwaL elociN - noitacudE deM
 456,1 688,1  sednalseD-essargeD enelraK - noitacudE dhP
 031,1        -      notlimaH-noremaC naitaK noitacudE dhP

 Total  936,64 601,84 
 
Upgrading & Equipping of Basic Schools  

 900,1        - tnafnI & yramirP llaH yrabraB 
 931,1      - tnafnI & yramirP notnosneB 
 913        - loohcS tnafnI arbahteB 
 262,11 918,72 ICE egelloC naivaroM mehelhteB 
 427      - loohcS tnafnI egdirbmaC 

 Caribbean Child Development Centre – Establishment  
 773,1      - )CDCC( werdnA .tS 
 914,81 947,1 emmargorP tnemecnahnE hceT esahC 

 CHASE Tech Enhancement Programme  - Computers  1,461 -      
 089,2 364,51 sretnirP - emmargorP tnemecnahnE hceT esahC 
 000,52 000,53 stelbaT - emmargorP tnemecnahnE hceT esahC 
 785,1      - tnafnI & yramirP naivaroM anaitsirhC 
      - 778 tnafnI & yramirP gnirpS tnatsnoC 
 403      - loohcS yramirP yevlaD 

 ECC Certification of Early Child  000,05      - noitutitsnI dooh
      - 271,5 tnafnI & yramirP nostellE 
 089,1      - ecnellecxE fo ertneC doohdlihC ylraE llehctiM nylevE 
       - 453,2 tnafnI & yramirP nossugreF 
 213         - tnafnI & yramirP dleifknarF 
 197,1     938      dnaleromtseW - loohcS cisaB pihsdneirF 

 302,811 437,09 74 egap ot drawrof deirrac latoT
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CULTURE, HEALTH, ARTS, SPORTS AND EDUCATION FUND 
(A company limited by guarantee) 
 

  2202 ,13 hcraM dedne raeY
(Expressed in Jamaica dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
 2021 2020 
 $’000 $’000 
EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION FUND (CONTINUED) 
 
Upgrading & Equipping of Basic Schools  (Continued) 
 

 302,811 437,09 73 egap morf drawrof thguorb latoT
 

      - 777 tnafnI & yramirP niatnuoM stnarG 
 725,2      - tnafnI & yramirP evorG yppaH 
 872,1      - tnafnI & yramirP snomraH 
 810,3 171,1 tnafnI & yramirP drazaH 
 269,9 066,33 loohcS yramirP htysliK 
      - 215,2 tnafnI & yramirP notseW gniK 
 493,71      - ICE aivocaL 
 23      - tnafnI & yramirP lliH eilraM 
      - 518,5 tnafnI & yramirP yelrevraM 
 476 972 loohcS yramirP esorleM 
 201      - ertneC gninraeL slegnA deeS dratsuM 

 NET Resilient Schools Project - Equipping Infant Schools 27,724 22,276 
 58      - tnafnI & yramirP dnalgnE dlO 
 784,1      - loohcS cisaB daoR dlO 
 53      - loohcS tnafnI & yramirP nwoT yrraP 
 489,42 042,31 tnafnI & yramirP nwoT kcirtaP 
 663,91 584,6 tnafnI & yramirP edisdnoP 
 042,1 632,1 yramirP layoR troP 
 474      - tnafnI & yramirP eloP elkcirP 
 939,5 771 tnafnI & yramirP yroirP 
 643,1      - tnafnI & yramirP slliH deR 
 527 086 tnafnI & yramirP lliH esoR 
      - 927  tnafnI & yramirP lliH laruR 
 633 852 loohcS tnafnI s’hpesoJ .tS 
 984      - tnafnI detinU s’luaP .tS 
 838,1      - sloohcS tnafnI rof selbaT 
 122,4      - tnafnI nedraG noinU 
 516      - tnafnI & yramirP ytinU 
 876      - tnafnI & yramirP dleifsnahguaV 
 017,7 276,91 tnafnI & yramirP airotciV 
 148,1      - tnafnI & yramirP egalliV 
 925,1     637        tnafnI & yramirP oolretaW 

 404,052 588,502  

Technical  and other Costs   15,246   23,703 

Retention fees   11,291       -       

Total  531,863 325,273 
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